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     Friday, July 21, 2006

     --- Upon commencing at 9:32 a.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

The Board is sitting today in connection with an application filed March 30th by Natural Resource Gas Limited under Section 36 of the Ontario Energy Board Act seeking rate increases with respect to their rates for the distribution and transmission of natural gas in their franchise area.  Those rates, if approved, would become effective on October 1st this year.

The Board has earlier, on July 18th, held a town hall meeting in the City of Aylmer, at which time a number of customers appeared, including the Mayor of the City, Mr. Baldwin, representatives of Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative, and other citizens and customers.

     Three issues were raised for the Board's consideration at that time.  They included the interests of the Integrated Grain Processors with respect to a new facility they were contemplating in the franchise area.  

It also included concerns by certain customers whether they had timely access to gas marketers within the NRG jurisdiction.  We will, in the course of this hearing, ask our counsel to address those issues.  

The third issue was a concern expressed by citizens as to the differences between the prices paid by customers in Union Gas territory and the NRG territory.  That difference was said to be in the order of 25 percent.  So we will ask our counsel to deal with those issues before representatives of the company in this proceeding, although many of those people may not be here.

     Could I have the appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:

     MR. KING:  Richard King, counsel for Natural Resource Gas Limited.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. King.

     MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye, counsel for the Ontario Energy Board.  With me is Khalil Viraney, case manager at the Ontario Energy Board, and Richard Battista, Ontario Energy Board.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.

     MR. STOLL:  Scott Stoll, for the intervenor, Integrated Grain Processors, and with me as a representative is Mr. George Alkalay.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.  

Mr. Aiken, do you want to go on the record?

     MR. AIKEN:  I'm actually a witness.  I'm for the applicant.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MR. KAISER:  Sorry.  Could I ask, Mr. Faye, could you or one of your associates make a quick call up to the Energy Board and see if they can bring a sound system down here to assist the court reporter?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  We'll have somebody do that.

     MR. KAISER:  In the meantime, we may all have to speak a little louder than normal to assist the court reporter here.

     Mr. Faye, how do you want to proceed?

     MR. FAYE:  I understand, Mr. Chair, that the applicant has some evidence that they would like to introduce prior to the proceeding starting.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. King.

     MR. KING:  We have a few things.  I guess just in terms of order of appearances, the way we have decided to sit, after consultation with Mr. Faye and Mr. Stoll, is that Ms. McShane would sit on her own as a witness first.  She has obligations next week, so we're thankful for the opportunity to have her testify today to the ROE issues and capital structure issues, and her evidence.

     And then, once she is done, we will have Mr. Bristoll, the chairman of NRG, and Mr. Aiken, sit as a panel somewhere.  And.  And it's at that time Mr. Bristoll will give his opening statement from the company.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.

     MR. KING:  In terms of preliminary filings, I only have an updated response to Board Staff question 39.  And that was just simply updating our ROE calculation using the July 2006 consensus forecast.  We'll pass those up.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Faye, let's give this an exhibit number.  What number?

     MR. FAYE:  K1.3, Mr. Chair.

     MR. VIRANEY:  And that will be update of return on equity calculation using the July 2006 consensus forecast.  

     EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  UPDATE OF RETURN ON EQUITY 

CALCULATION USING JULY 2006 CONSENSUS FORECAST

     MR. KING:  The only other preliminary matter before we get to Ms. McShane is the matter of the deferral account request for energy's redeployment costs.  Mr. Faye and I thought we would deal with this matter at the outset.

     In NRG's last rate case, the decision coming out December 2004, the Board acknowledged that one of the live issues in that rate case was NRG's plans to refinance the company.

     The Board in their decision acknowledged that NRG would likely incur breakage and penalty costs associated with refinancing its debt, and the Board in that decision stated that it would make a determination at a later date regarding whether those breakage costs would be included in rates.

NRG did ultimately refinance with Scotiabank on March 28th, 2006.  They requested a deferral account by way of the letter to the Board prior to the money flowing.  They requested the deferral account to December 2005.

     That request was initially denied.  And then there were subsequent conversations between the company and Board Staff, and a reconsideration request was filed by NRG's previous counsel.

     That letter went in in May, and then we received a letter back from the Board early in July stating that the Board would deal with the administrative matter of setting up the deferral account at the start of this proceeding, and obviously the prudence of whether those costs is included is a live matter before the Board to deal with as the hearing unfolds, but at this point we're just simply asking that the account be set up.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. King, could I have the two letters?  I vaguely know what you are referring to but I don't have copies.  Do you have an extra copy?  Or Mr. Faye?  Do you have these letters, Mr. Faye?

     MR. FAYE:  We have them --

     MR. KAISER:  I'm talking about the letter to the Board and the Board's response.

     MR. KING:  I can give you, I think, the whole picture.

     The final piece of correspondence in there is the -- I guess the final correspondence from NRG's previous counsel would have been on his letterhead, but I have simply a Word document printed off.  It should be dated May.

     The deferral account, the redeployment costs are $213,000, and then there would be accrued interest from March 28th through to the start of the fiscal year that is the subject of this application, so through to October 1.  That adds another 5,000 and change to the amount, which brings the total amount that will be in the deferral account as of October 1, the start of the fiscal year 2007, brings that amount to $219,116.

     The explanation of the deferral account is in our evidence.  It's in the updated blue pages at Exhibit D1, tab 7, schedule 1.  That's D1, 7, 1, and it's page 4 and 5 of 6.

     And the application is to establish the deferral account.  Obviously we're requesting that the entire refinancing cost be included, and then the balance be recovered in rates going forward, which is a 53-month period.

     So, amortizing those over the remaining life of the loan.  The loan is a 60-month loan.  As of October 1, there will be 53 months remaining.

     MR. KAISER:  I'm not clear why you need a deferral account.  You know the amount of the costs at this point, as I understand, the 219 and change?

     MR. KING:  Mm-hm.

     MR. KAISER:  And you're asking that those costs be recoverable in rates, right?

     MR. KING:  That's right.  There was a cost incurred outside the test period we're dealing with, though, seven months prior.

     MR. KAISER:  Oh, I see.

     MR. KING:  So there's a seven-month gap period.  So we requested the deferral account --

     MR. KAISER:  Sort of a retroactive deferral account?

     MR. KING:  Sure.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  We don't need a deferral account to track any monies, which is usually why we set up a deferral account.

     MR. KING:  That's right.

     MR. KAISER:  But it's not for that purpose.

     MR. KING:  That's right.

     MR. KAISER:  It's just to recovery monies previously spent?

     MR. KING:  That's right.

     MR. KAISER:  As opposed to monies in the test year.

     MR. KING:  That's right.

     MR. KAISER:  Or forecast.

     MR. KING:  That's right.

     MR. KAISER:  So if we grant a deferral account, I take it you're not saying that you treat that as having -- if we approve this deferral account, you don't interpret that as a decision by the Board as having approved that this amount should be recoverable in rates?

     MR. KING:  That's right.  The amounts of the breakage fees, whether those are prudent costs, are the subject of this proceeding.  And I expect that Mr. Faye will have questions on -- and there have been some IRs on --

     MR. KAISER:  I take it what you're saying is that subject to any judgment as to whether the costs are reasonable, in principle we agree the amounts should be recoverable in rates.

     MR. KING:  Right.

     MR. KAISER:  Is that the purposes of us --

     MR. KING:  That's right.

     MR. KAISER:  -- granting you a deferral account?

     MR. KING:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Is that right, Mr. Faye?  Is that your understanding?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, that's our understanding, Mr. Chair.  We have no objections to the creation of the account.  We may have some issues with what goes into it later in the hearing.

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, you may have some submissions as to the amount, but you don't dispute the fact that these amounts should be recoverable in rates in this proceeding?

     MR. FAYE:  We have issues with --

     MR. KAISER:  You're not going to argue that it's a retroactive rate increase or something.

     MR. FAYE:  No, we have no issue with that.

     MR. KAISER:  Anything further on this, Mr. King?

     MR. KING:  Nothing further.

     MR. KAISER:  You wanted to take a couple of minutes and decide this now?

     MR. KING:  Yes, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Give us ten minutes.

     --- Recess taken at 9:44 a.m.

     --- On resuming at 9:45 a.m.

     MR. KAISER:  The Board grants the deferral account as requested by NRG.

     Mr. King, let's give the reporter a minute to -- it looks like she may have some equipment to help her. 

     MR. KAISER:  Please proceed.

     MR. KING:  If there's nothing else, I'm proposing we have Ms. McShane.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MR. FAYE:  We have one preliminary matter, some evidence to introduce here, and the first piece of evidence that we'd like to introduce is a compendium of the previous NRG decisions, which we'll bring up to you in a moment.  And the second piece of evidence is the transcript from proceeding RP-2004-0167, which was the last NRG hearing.

     MR. KAISER:  Did we have a transcript for the town hall meeting?  Is that part of the record in this proceeding or are you going to deal with that, Mr. Faye?

     MR. FAYE:  I believe we have it.

     MR. KAISER:  Let's give it exhibit number.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay, we recommend giving the compendium of previous decisions K1.1.

     EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  COMPENDIUM OF PREVIOUS DECISIONS

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MR. FAYE:  The transcript of RP-2004-0167, we recommend K1.2.

     EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  TRANSCRIPT OF RP-2004-0167

     MR. KAISER:  What's the purpose of that earlier transcript?

     MR. FAYE:  We have in evidence the possibility of deferral to this in one of the questions in the cross-examination on a subject that's a financial matter. 

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Do you have any objection to that, Mr. King, filing the transcript in the previous case?

     MR. KING:  I have none.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

     MR. FAYE:  The final piece of evidence we'd like to put it in is the transcript from the public meeting in Aylmer on July 18th.  That will be numbered K1.4.

     EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  TRANSCRIPT FROM NRG PUBLIC FORUM
HELD IN AYLMER ON JULY 18, 2006

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 

     NRG - PANEL 1:

     Kathleen C. McShane; Sworn

     EXAMINATION BY MR. KING:

     MR. KING:  For the benefit of the Board, Ms. McShane's evidence is found at Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 1.   It consists of an opinion on capital structure and equity risk premium for Natural Resource Gas -- that report is dated March 2006 -- as well as an update to that which is a two-page update dated July 2006.

     I've spoken to Mr. Faye and Mr. Stoll about my intent to ask that Ms. McShane be accepted as an expert on the issues related to utility rate of return and capital structure, and they have consented to do that, subject to the Board's agreement, obviously.

     MR. KAISER:  Why don't you for the record briefly take her through her qualifications before you...

     MR. KING:  Sure.  Firstly, her CV is attached as appendix A to the main report.  The main piece of evidence is 22 pages long.  After page 22 is appendix A, which is entitled  "The Qualifications of Kathleen McShane."

     Ms. McShane, am I correct that you hold a master of business administration degree in finance --

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes --

     MR. KING:  -- from the University of Florida?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. KING:  And you also hold a Bachelor of Arts and Master of Arts degrees from the University of Rhode Island; is that correct?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes; correct.

     MR. KING:  And you hold the designation of CFA?

     MS. McSHANE:  I do.

     MR. KING:  And I gather your current work at Foster Associates in the areas of financial analysis, energy economics, and cost allocation?

     MS. McSHANE:  Primarily in the area of cost of capital, but, yes, I do work in the other areas as well.

     MR. KING:  And in your qualifications you state that you have presented testimony in more than 150 proceedings on the issues of rate of return and capital structure before a variety of federal, state, provincial, and territorial regulatory boards; is that correct?

     MS. McSHANE:  That's correct.

     MR. KING:  And those are regulatory boards in the field of telephone, gas, and electric utilities?

     MS. McSHANE:  That is correct.

     MR. KING:  And you have been accepted as an expert before this Board on issues related to rate of return capital structure?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, I have.

     MR. KING:  Those are the basics, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  The Board accepts Ms. McShane as an expert.

     MR. KING:  Thank you.

     Ms. McShane, as I've indicated, your direct evidence and the update is found at Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 1.  As well, you were involved in the preparation of certain responses to information requests.  Were all of those materials prepared by you or under your direction?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, they were.

     MR. KING:  And are these materials true and correct, to the best of your knowledge?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, they are.

     MR. KING:  Do you have any corrections to your material?

     MS. McSHANE:  No, I do not.

     MR. KING:  And do you adopt these materials for the purposes of this proceeding?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, I do.

     MR. KING:  Mr. Chair, Ms. McShane is available for questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Faye.

     MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Chair, I wonder in view of reading from a laptop if it would be possible to sit to conduct the cross-examination.

     MR. KAISER:  That's fine.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FAYE:

     MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  Good morning, Ms. McShane.

     MS. McSHANE:  Good morning, Mr. Faye.

     MR. FAYE:  Because there has been no direct testimony on your evidence, I wonder if you would give us a brief synopsis of the purpose of your evidence.

     MS. McSHANE:  The purpose of my evidence was to address the impact of NRG's refinancing in terms of whether the resulting capital structure was reasonable, and in light of the new capital structure what a fair return on equity would be within the context of the Board's automatic adjustments mechanism formula that it has applied to the gas utility since 1997 and was recently reconfirmed in early 2004.

     MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  As I understood your analysis of debt-equity ratio applicable to NRG, there appears to be a range of acceptable ratios; is that correct?

     MS. McSHANE:  I agree that there is a range of acceptable ratios that's based on essentially what the industry has maintained.

     MR. FAYE:  Are you able to put limits on what that range would be, the high and the low limits of it?

     MS. McSHANE:  There is no gas distributor in this country who operates today with a common equity ratio lower than 35 percent, but there are a number of them who do operate at 35 percent.  So I would view 35 percent as the lower end of the range that -- if I were going to recommend a common equity ratio, I would not recommend for any gas utility a common equity ratio below 35 percent.

     At the upper end of the range, given the risk profiles of the gas utilities in Canada, I would say that probably 55 percent would be the upper end of the range.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.

     In your paper at line 40, you note that NRG had an approved ratio of 35.5 percent in 1995.  That's line 40 on page 2.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  I just want to clarify.  Do you mean that that was its actual equity ratio or its deemed ratio?

     MS. McSHANE:  At that time, many of the gas distributors were still using actual equity ratios for the purpose of rates.  I'm not positive whether Union and Enbridge were at the time, but it was probably in the early '90s that there began to be a shift from actual common equity ratios to deemed common equity ratio.  So this was an actual common equity ratio, but it was the same ratio used for regulatory purposes.

     MR. FAYE:  You go on to say -- I'm reading now at line 41-45, that same page -- that restrictions on dividend payments that were part of a loan agreement that NRG had at the time caused retained earnings to increase, and that caused the equity ratio to increase over the period of a couple of years.  Have I got that right? 

     MS. McSHANE:  That's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  In 1997, the deemed ratio appears to have reached somewhere around 50 percent; right?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  In 1997 I did a study for NRG and recommended that the Board set a deemed common equity ratio at 50 percent, recognizing that the actual equity ratio was going to rise above that as time went on because of this same phenomenon, that there was a prohibition on dividend payments.

     But it was my view that the Board should not set rates based on a common equity ratio higher than 50 percent, and that at a 50 percent common equity ratio the level of financial risk faced by NRG in combination with its business risk would be such that the cost of equity would be approximately the same as the cost of equity to Enbridge Gas.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  If I could just summarize that progression of equity ratios, if I could call it that, in 1995 they were around 35 percent actual, and also deemed, I understand?  

     MS. McSHANE:  I would not characterize it as deemed.  I would characterize it as actual.

     MR. FAYE:  An acceptance of actual, as the rate we used?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  By 1997, retained earnings have forced the actual equity ratio of 50 percent, and in the rate case for '97 it seems the Board approved an equity ratio of 50 percent, partly as a result of your evidence?

     MS. McSHANE:  That's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  I'm wondering if you meant to draw a connection there.  Is there a cause and effect there, that the Board made an adjustment because the actual had got to 50 percent?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, the Board made the adjustment because the equity ratio had gotten to 50 percent, in the sense that I doubt very much that the Board would have concluded that it should use a 50 percent equity ratio for rate-making purposes if there had not been 50 percent equity in place.

     In other words, it's very rare for a regulator to deem an equity ratio that is higher than the actual equity ratio that is in place.

     So if I could give you, for an example, Newfoundland Power.  Their regulator allows them to use a common equity ratio up to 45 percent.  The 45 percent is a deemed cap.  But if their actual common equity ratio in a test year were to be 42 percent, then the rates would be set on the basis of 42 percent.

     The second part of the answer is that the Board approved 50 percent equity because 50 percent equity was reasonable for the level of business risk that NRG faced.  If the company had had 50 percent equity -- say it was an Enbridge Gas, and they had 50 percent equity, the Board would not have been likely to approve 50 percent equity for ratemaking purposes, because they would have concluded that the business risk of Enbridge Gas was not at a level that warranted using 50 percent equity in rates.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  If I understand you, then, your opinion is the Board would consider two circumstances, one being the actual equity ratio, and the other, which sounds to me that it might be more important, is what's the most appropriate equity ratio.  They're influenced by both those factors?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  I mean, there is obviously an inter-dependence between equity ratio and cost of equity.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So, then, again, just to summarize.  The 50 percent equity ratio in 1997 was an appropriate equity ratio for NRG?

     MS. McSHANE:  It was an appropriate equity ratio based on the business risk, and it was, in my view, the equity ratio that would have approximately equated the total risk of NRG to what I've referred to as the benchmark gas utility, that being Enbridge Gas.

     MR. FAYE:  Has anything changed in the intervening years, since 1997, that would cause you to conclude that the 35 percent ratio is a more appropriate one to use now?

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, it's more appropriate to use because that's what it is.  NRG doesn't have 50 percent equity anymore.  It has 35 percent.  So, from the point of view of how much equity it has, it has 35 percent.  So I wouldn't recommend that the Board deem 50 percent.

     A 50 percent equity ratio, in my view, would still be the level at which the total investment risk, total business plus financial risk, of NRG would be approximately the same as that of Enbridge.  But it doesn't have 50 percent equity, so it has a higher level of investment risk, which translates into a higher rate of return on equity.  It doesn't translate into a higher overall cost of capital.

     In other words, there's a trade-off between the equity ratio and the cost of equity.  So that, in fact, based on my recommendations, the overall cost of capital is less, up to 35 percent common equity ratio than it would be if the Board were to deem 50 percent equity.

     MR. FAYE:  So that in terms of what has changed, what I hear you saying is the only thing that has changed since 1997 is that NRG changed its actual equity ratio by distributing some dividends or return of capital to its shareholder.  Would that be correct?

     MS. McSHANE:  That is the primary change that has occurred, that the company has refinanced and gone out and raised enough new debt so that it has established a common equity ratio of approximately 35 percent.

     MR. FAYE:  And to your knowledge, was that a Board-directed change in equity ratio?

     MS. McSHANE:  No, the Board was suggesting very strongly to NRG that it refinance its existing debt.  But it didn't direct the company to change its equity ratio.  I don't believe the Board can direct a company to change its equity ratio.  It can order what equity ratio they're going to use for regulatory purposes.

     MR. FAYE:  Right.  One more question along those lines, then.  Have any of the other business circumstances, business risks, changed appreciably in the last ten years, since 1997, or would they even have an impact on your recommendation for an equity ratio?  

     MS. McSHANE:  The answer to the first question is, no, I do not believe the risks have changed appreciably, nor the relative risks relative to the other gas distributors changed appreciably.  And I forget what the second part of your question was.

     MR. FAYE:  I shouldn't have asked you two, I'm sorry.

     MS. McSHANE:  Oh.  Sorry, I remember.  You asked me whether the business risk has an impact.  And the answer is yes, the business risk has an impact.  If there had been a significant increase in business risk or decrease in business risk, then that should be reflected either in a change in capital structure, a change in common equity return, or a combination thereof.

     So I can give you just an example.  Pacific Northern Gas, which is a small gas distributor in British Columbia, they were allowed a weather normalization account at some point in the last couple of years.  So as a result of that, the BCUC reduced their relative equity risk premium by a small amount to reflect the decline in business risk.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  As I understand your analysis, different debt ratios result in different outcomes for what you call the financial metrics?  You refer to those metrics at line 592, if you would turn to that.  That's on page 21.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, I have those.

     MR. FAYE:  So my question is, if these metrics change according to the equity ratio, is it true to say that the metrics improve as more debt is added?

     MS. McSHANE:  No, the metrics deteriorate as more debt is added.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Thank you for that correction.

     So, as the equity ratio rises, then, the financial metrics improve?

     MS. McSHANE:  Correct.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, no.  Wait a minute.  I said yes too quickly.

     Everything else equal.  But it really depends on the equity return as well because the financial metrics are not just driven by the equity ratio; they're also driven by the common equity return.

     So that if you had a 50 percent equity ratio and a 35 percent equity ratio and the same equity return in both cases, then the financial metrics would be much better with the 50 percent equity ratio.

     But if you recognize the higher financial risk in the 35 percent common equity ratio and have a common equity return that directly captures that higher financial risk, then there shouldn't be that much difference.

     MR. KAISER:  Ms. McShane, the cash flow interest coverage 3.6, which is on the table that Mr. Faye is referring you to, is that the same as the cash flow coverage on table 4 on the next page?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. FAYE:  So that I understand what you just said, if a 35 percent equity ratio attracts a premium, then the reason this would be this difference in these ratios is because there's less cash in the business because you're giving more out to the shareholder.   Do I understand that right?

     MS. McSHANE:  I didn't follow the question.

     MR. FAYE:  Well, what I heard you say was that as the debt ratio increases -- sorry, as the equity ratio increases, that means there's less debt, the coverage ratios at line 592 improve, and then if we consider the situation at 35 percent, you said that the return on equity has some effect on these ratios.  And I'm asking, the effect is that as you increase the return on equity, that takes cash out of the business that could have improved these ratios; there would be less cash on hand for interest coverage, for instance, if you paid more to the shareholder?  Or am I confusing you?

     MS. McSHANE:  The coverage ratios that are calculated here do not reflect the dividends that are paid to the shareholder.  I mean, these are all -- like, cash flow coverage, for example, would be equal to the net income, which is before any dividend payment, plus the interest, plus the depreciation.  So that there is no consideration of what is paid out to the shareholder in dividends versus what is retained in the business.  This is all before those kinds of payments.

     MR. KAISER:  Ms. McShane, that cash flow to debt is at 17.8 percent, and the cash flow interest coverage at 3.6.  That's a forecasted ratio, as I read this.

     MS. McSHANE:  Based on the requested capital structure and ROE for 2007, that's correct.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  What are the actuals now, do you know?

     MS. McSHANE:  I don't have those with me.

     MR. KAISER:  Could you get those?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, we can get those for you, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  So when you compare it on table 4 --

     MR. VIRANEY:  Excuse me.

     MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chair, do we have an undertaking?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  Could you just repeat what your undertaking is?

     MR. KAISER:  This was the actual cash flow interest coverage and the actual cash flow debt.

     MR. VIRANEY:  That will be Undertaking J1.1.

     UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE ACTUAL CASH FLOW
INTEREST COVERAGE AND ACTUAL CASH FLOW DEBT

     MR. KAISER:  So you're calculating -- I assume you mean that -- you're suggesting here the Board should be comparing - that's why I asked you the previous question - the 3.6 and the 17.8 to the values for the other companies in table 4?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  But these ones for NRG are based on forecasted ratios, not actuals, and they're based on a return on equity of 10.1 percent.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  The companies that we're supposed to compare to, did they have similar return on equities?

     MS. McSHANE:  No.

     MR. KAISER:  So we're really not comparing apples and apples, are we?  Is your point here that if you give this company a 10.1 percent return on equity and equity is 35 percent of the total capital structure, then they will achieve a cash flow interest structure and cash flow debt ratio similar to the other utilities?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  

     I didn't mean to interrupt you, Mr. Faye.

     MR. FAYE:  When you say financial risk, let me just clarify.  Who is bearing the financial risk that you're talking about?  Is that the shareholder that we're talking about?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  We were talking about the effect of less debt and the financial metrics, and where I was going with that is the financial metrics seem to be related to how bond rating agencies or debt rating agencies regard companies.  And I wonder, is it fair to say that less debt improves the metrics, and therefore these rating companies would find such a company more financial stable?

     MS. McSHANE:  Everything else being equal, and when I say "everything else being equal," that means the same equity return.

      Let me give you an example.  TransCanada pipeline is allowed a 36 percent common equity ratio.  It's governed by the NEB formula return, which is 8.8 percent, approximately, right now.  Rated low A, A minus.

     The Maritimes and Northeast pipeline has a 25 percent common equity ratio and a 13 percent equity return.  Its financial metrics are approximately the same as those of TransCanada, has the same debt rating.  So there is a trade-off, if you will, and the higher equity return does contribute to the financial metrics.  It's part of the cash flow.  It's not just the equity ratio.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, I understand that.  And I think what I'm trying to get straight in my mind is the mechanism by which a higher return on equity actually flows through to effect these ratios.  It's a matter of cash.

     MS. McSHANE:  And you get cash in the equity return. 

     MR. FAYE:  Who gets cash?

     MS. McSHANE:  The company. 

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.

     MS. McSHANE:  So you've got revenues that are a function of your total revenue requirement.  You pay your O&M, and then you have earnings before interest and taxes.  For example, let's look at the pre-tax interest coverage ratio.  So that's earnings before interest and taxes, divided by interest.  So the earnings before interest and taxes include the dollars of equity return that you are allowed, which is created by multiplying the equity ratio times the equity return.

     So if you have a lower equity return and a higher common equity ratio, you can end up with the same dollars as if you had -- I can't remember which order I did it 

in -- the opposite.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.  It gets confusing when we start talking numbers, but you answered my question, thank you.  You clarified for me that the simple fact of a higher equity return does result in more money coming in.   It's the money coming in that affects these ratios here?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, but it's a combination of the two.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, I understand that.

     MS. McSHANE:  Equity ratio and return.

     MR. KAISER:  That's because the return on equity would be higher than the return on debt; right?

     MR. FAYE:  Thank you.

     Returning for a moment to the dividend restrictions that were in the Imperial Life loan, those restrictions prevailed past 1997.  I think you alluded to that, did you?  They weren't dropped off after 1997?

     MS. McSHANE:  No, they were not.

     MR. FAYE:  So the common equity ratio, everything else being equal, would have continued to rise; is that right?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  Do you know how high it eventually got?

     MS. McSHANE:  I want to say that it was close to 70 percent, but I'm not positive.

     MR. FAYE:  To your knowledge, was there ever any approval from Imperial Life to distribute dividends or return capital?  Did the company ever apply for that?

     MS. McSHANE:  I don't know if they applied or not.

     MR. FAYE:  The point that the company lowered its equity ratio, did they lower it from 70 percent to 35, or was it more from 50 percent to 35?  Do you recall that?

     MS. McSHANE:  If their actual equity ratio had been 70 percent, then they would have lowered it from 70 percent to 35.

     MR. FAYE:  And the way you could effect that is how?  How does your equity ratio decline from, say, 70 percent to 50 percent if you don't distribute dividends or return capital?

     MS. McSHANE:  Cant.

     MR. FAYE:  Could an increase in capital projects, for instance, cause retained earnings to drop.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, if you increased the debt, the equity ratio would go down.

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, you have to have -- if the company is static in terms of growth, I mean, let's assume for the moment that there are no new capital projects.  If you can't distribute dividends or capital, you have no way to change your capital structure.  So you have to be able to refinance and come up with a new financing source which allows you to make those distributions and effect the change in capital structure.

     If you had a major project where you had to go out and raise new capital, and your actual equity ratio was at 70 percent, if you could find lender, you could finance the entire new project with debt, and therefore change the overall capital structure so that it perhaps went back to 50 percent equity, 50 percent debt.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.

     MR. KAISER:  How much debt does this company have now?

     MS. McSHANE:  I believe --

     MR. KAISER:  I know you got 6 and a half long term from the Bank of Nova Scotia, but these revolving notes and so on, how much debt is there actually on the books today?

     MS. McSHANE:  I believe it is 6 and a half million, approximately.

     MR. KAISER:  So the other loans, the other lines of credit, are not being used?

     MS. McSHANE:  At this point that's correct.  Mr. Bristoll knows those numbers better than I, but that's my understanding.

     MR. KAISER:  Remind me, how much was the old Imperial Life loan?

     Did you remember, Mr. King?

     MS. McSHANE:  I thought I had it in this older piece of testimony, but --

     MR. KING:  I think it may be at -- in the attachments to Ms. McShane's evidence, there is the agreement with Imperial Life which...

     MR. STOLL:  If I may, Mr. Chair?

     MR. KING:  I think it's page 13, 3.75 million.

     MR. STOLL:  Yes.  There's also a table at E5, tab 1, schedule 4, updated, which provides the outstanding principal.  It's E5.

     MS. McSHANE:  Sorry, I was looking for -- 

     MR. KAISER:  So the amount has almost doubled, I take it?

     MR. KING:  Pardon me?

     MR. KAISER:  The amount of debt has almost doubled?

     MR. KING:  The amount available under the Imperial Life loan was $3.75 million.  At the time that it was discharged, there wasn't very much at all, 1.5 million remaining at that time.

     At the time of refinancing, the total amount of debt, which would have included the banknote debenture, Imperial Life loan, and the Banco loan, so this is March 2006, when all of those were discharged and the new loan put in place the total amount outstanding was 2.566 million.

     MR. KAISER:  And is the total amount of the 6.5 on the Scotia loan, has that all been drawn down?

     MR. KING:  Yes.  Yes, it has.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  So instead of 2.566, we have 3.6 now.  

     MR. FAYE:  If I could just summarize where we're at on that, Ms. McShane, at this point an equity ratio between 35 percent and 55 percent would be acceptable, all other things being equal?  You wouldn't go outside that range?

     MS. McSHANE:  I can't think of a reason that I would go outside that range.  I think that a ratio within that range would be reasonable for specific utilities, given the appropriate common equity return.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I'd like to turn to the issue of the premium that's being proposed on the proposed 35 percent deemed equity.

      As I understand your analysis, you're suggesting that it's necessary to compensate the shareholder for some increased risk associated with a lower equity.  Do I have that correct?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  All right.  Can you explain the rationale for concluding that shareholders' risk increased with lower equity ratio?  How does it increase?

     MS. McSHANE:  Because there are more fixed payments to be made, on debt interest, before the shareholder receives any return.  So, with greater amount of debt, then there is a higher potential volatility on the shareholders' return.

     MR. FAYE:  When you say potential volatility, do you mean the chance that the company might go bankrupt.

     MS. McSHANE:  No.

     MR. FAYE:  And you'll lose everything?

     MS. McSHANE:  No.  Well, I mean, obviously at some level that's true; that the higher the debt ratio, the higher the potential bankruptcy. The more financial stress is involved.

     But what I was speaking to was that if you have more fixed amounts that have to be recovered, that any decline in revenues or increase in operating costs will have a larger impact on a company with a 50 percent equity ratio than a 35 percent equity ratio.

     MR. FAYE:  Your analysis seems to conclude that the risk to the NRG shareholder at 35 percent equity is greater than the risk to an Enbridge shareholder at the same equity ratio.  Is that -- have I got that correct?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  I want to discuss business risks, and if I could turn you to page 11 of your evidence, around line 313.  You go in some detail there about NRG's market.  And I wonder if the risk premium proposed is mainly due to the agricultural component of that market or is it NRG's entire market that's a riskier one than Enbridge.

     MS. McSHANE:  Its entire market is riskier than Enbridge.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Would you say that the residential component of that market is riskier?

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, if you mean that -- if you try to carve out to individual classes and to ask if -- I would say probably yes, because it's just a less diversified residential market.  I mean, the residential and commercial customer base is more dependent on agriculture than in an Enbridge environment, where there is a broad range of industries. 

     So if you had a decline in one of the industries where people work in the Enbridge franchise area, chances are there would be another sector of the economy that was doing very well.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So your risks in the employment sector of the market do influence the residential sector.

     MS. McSHANE:  Sure, yes.

     MR. FAYE:  I understand.

     MR. KAISER:  Now, is there any data on that or is this just your observation?

     MS. McSHANE:  I've never seen any specific data on that.

     MR. KAISER:  I mean, how do we know?  What evidence do we rely on that the residential customers in this territory are more dependent on one industry than Enbridge customers?

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, I think the evidence is that they're -- just that we know that there are very limited number of industries.

     MR. KAISER:  What are those industries?

     MS. McSHANE:  In the --

     MR. KAISER:  I mean, do we have any data that tells us how many -- how many residential customers does this utility have?  About 6,000, is it?  Is that the number?

     MS. McSHANE:  That would be about right, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  In round terms?

     MR. KING:  Sir, did you say residential or how many total?

     MR. KAISER:  Residential.

     MS. McSHANE:  About 6,000 forecast.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  So, I mean, are you telling us 50 percent of these people are employed in tobacco farming or what?

     MS. McSHANE:  No, I'm not say saying that they're employed in tobacco farming.  I'm saying that the whole area is impacted by the agricultural sector.  I'm not saying that they're necessarily tobacco but they're grain dryers, there are greenhouses, and it's an agricultural area.

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.

     MS. McSHANE:  It just doesn't have the diversity of employment.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MS. McSHANE:  That an Enbridge does.

     MR. KAISER:  But if the tobacco industry were doing well, that wouldn't be a problem?  The average income of residents of Aylmer might be higher than the average income -- do you know what the average income of these residential customers is compared to the average income of Enbridge residential customers?

     MS. McSHANE:  No.

     MR. KAISER:  Do we know whether they have a record of failing to pay their bills more often than the residential customers in Enbridge territory?

     MS. McSHANE:  I do not know that, no.

     MR. KAISER:  I mean, it seems to me if you were going to make a judgment that the -- industry's a different thing that the residential customers are riser customers than in Enbridge, you would need some evidence as opposed to asserting that the fact that the industrial base that they earn their employment from might be narrower.  I don't see how that leads to a conclusion that it's necessarily riskier.

     MS. McSHANE:  And I wouldn't have really made my judgment based on that.  I was addressing the question from -- I had not thought about it in those terms.  It seems to me that if you have an area that's strongly based on one industry, then you don't have the opportunity for growth with a more diversified economy.  You have greater possibility of out-migration if employment falls in the agricultural sector.

One analogy would be the whole economy of Newfoundland, where -- I mean, it's a relatively extreme example, but you see the cod industry has died and the people have left.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  But you could also go to Kitchener or Alliston, and you could say that sector's dependent on high-tech and their average incomes are the highest in the province.

     Now, it turns out fish is not a good business and building Blackberries is.  But they're one-industry towns. 

     MS. McSHANE:  Right.  And to me there are examples of one-industry towns where the town has closed down for a few -- for a mining town, for example.  So to me that makes the residential customers in a sense more risky than the residential customers in a franchise area that's characterized by a broad range of industries.

     MR. KAISER:  But that depends on the industry that underlies that.  I mean, nobody's in Kitchener/Waterloo and complaining.  It's heavily dependent on one industry, the high-technology industry.  There's no fish.  There's no tobacco.  I mean, I'm trying to determine whether you're made an assessment of what's happening in tobacco industry here.  Is that what the basis of all of this?

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, it's not -- it's partly the tobacco industry, yes.  It's declining, and in fact seems to be dying.  And there is no indication that there is a crop that will replace tobacco at this point, with the same -- at least in terms of the revenues to NRG.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, you have to admit it's pretty subjective evidence.  We were just down there.  Have you been there?

     MS. McSHANE:  I've been down in that area, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  I mean, it looks pretty prosperous.  And they're working with the government.  They may get paid out.  The tobacco industry could go, and those people could get compensation from the federal government, and they could be laughing all the way to the bank.  I don't know.

I'm just trying to find out what you know that I don't know.  I don't have any basis of knowing whether the people in Aylmer are less likely to pay their bills to their gas company than the people in Enbridge territory.  I don't have any sense of -- and just because tobacco's declining, that doesn't necessarily get me there, because they may have other alternatives, they may have compensation.

     And I'm just trying to understand what analysis you've done to make that conclusion that the residential customers are riskier than the residential customers in Enbridge.

     MS. McSHANE:  That was not the basis of my conclusions.  It wasn't that the residential customers were more risky.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, then I misunderstood.  I thought that was your answer to Mr. Faye.

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, he asked me the question whether I thought that, but that wasn't at any basis of my conclusions.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  I'm sorry.

     MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

     I'd like to take you back, then, to the topic of risk in the agricultural/industrial sector that you've talked about here.

     And just thinking within that sector, there is both the agricultural and the industrial component.  Would you characterize the agricultural component as more risky than the industrial?

     MS. McSHANE:  I would characterize the agricultural as probably more risky than the industrial.

     MR. FAYE:  And are there certain parts of the agricultural that you focus on as being the riskiest?

     MS. McSHANE:  No, I think that –- well, clearly I think that the tobacco industry has been the riskiest.  The tobacco industry is dying.  But the other agricultural parts have risks as well, the grain-drying, the greenhouses.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Faye, would this be a convenient time to take the morning break?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, I think so, Mr. Chair.

     MR. KAISER:  And we'll come back at 11 o'clock.

     --- Recess taken at 10:38 a.m.

     --- On resuming at 11:03 a.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. KAISER:  Ms. McShane, we have a couple of questions, if we could start before Mr. Faye resumes.

     You're recommending a 10.1 percent rate of return on equity here.

     MS. McSHANE:  I was recommending a premium of 1.5 percent points over the Enbridge ROE.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  And that becomes 10.1?

     MS. McSHANE:  I think based on the July consensus forecast it's 10.28.

     MR. KAISER:  And what's the Enbridge rate that's allowed currently?

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, basically, if you want the comparable.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.

     MS. McSHANE:  Return, it's 8.78 percent.

     MR. KAISER:  And Union's what?

     MS. McSHANE:  Oh, Union, I think, is 15 basis points higher than Enbridge, so if you're going to put them all on the same long-term Canada bond rate, you would basically add 15 basis point.  

     MR. KAISER:  We're talking about return on equity, right?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  So Union is 15 percent above the 8.78, and you're recommending 10.2-something here, which is what it translates into now.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  The fact that the Union rate is higher than the Enbridge rate, that was, as I recall, you probably looked at this much more closely, related to some finding by the Board that the Union customer base was riskier.

     MS. McSHANE:  I believe that's correct.

     MR. KAISER:  And was that based, do you recall, on what percentage of the customers were residential and what percentage was industrial?  Do you recall the basis for that finding?

     MS. McSHANE:  I think it was mainly based on the percentage but also the concentration as among the industries that Union served versus the industries that Enbridge served.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Faye, you can point us to the rationale in the Board's decision, I guess, at some point, as to the premium that was awarded Union in terms of rate of return on equity because of the riser, more risky customer base?  You can turn that up at some point?

    But coming back to Ms. McShane, if we've established that there are some 6,000 residential customers, what percentage of the customer base is residential and what percentage is industrial in the case of NRG?

     MS. McSHANE:  Are you talking about the total number of customers?

     MR. KAISER:  Well, I'm going to do it two ways; the number of customers and revenues.  Do we have that?

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, number of customers, it's very, very high.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  About 97 percent or something?

     MS. McSHANE:  Perhaps.

     MR. KAISER:  I mean, Mr. King will know these things off the top of my head, no doubt.

     MR. KING:  I think as of July, it is 5,800 customers residential of a total of around 6,500 total customers.

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  So over 95 percent.  What about revenue, Mr. King?  What's the residential revenue compared to the total revenue?

     MR. KING:  I'm going to have to look that up.

     MR. KAISER:  Do you know, Mr. Bristoll?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  For the forecast I do.  It's 2.8 on 3.8 for distribution.

     MR. KAISER:  2.8 million?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Of 3.8 in total.

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.  And what is it today?  That's the forecast.  Do you know, or the last year?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I don't know off the top of my head.  If you would give me a moment.  Let me just confirm with Mr. Aiken.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  2.5 of 3.7 on normalized actually.

     MR. KAISER:  2.5 on 3.7.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Million.

     MR. KAISER:  On total.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  And those were for normalized actuals.

     MR. KAISER:  So the forecast is not much different from the actual?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  No.  That's correct.

     MR. KAISER:  And has that been growing?  Has the percentage of your revenue that's been coming from the residential base been growing, or have these ratios been relatively constant over the past five years?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I don't think I'm good to answer that question.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Aiken, do you know?

     MR. AIKEN:  I think they've been relatively consistent, but they tend to bounce around from year to year depending on whether there's a good tobacco crop and that type of thing.

     MR. McSHANE:  Right.

     MR. AIKEN:  But generally, I think they're more or less holding constant.

     MR. KAISER:  And how did that compare to Union, Mr. King?  Mr. Bristoll, do you know?

     MS. McSHANE:  Not off the top of my head.

     MR. KAISER:  Do you know how it compared to Enbridge?

     MS. McSHANE:  In terms of --

     MR. KAISER:  Anyway, I don't want to take time.  Can I leave those with you?  Where we're trying to assess risk here compared with Union and Enbridge and we're talking about the percentage of revenue from residential versus industrials, I take it, as a starting point.  So I wonder if I could ask you gentlemen to give us an undertaking on that.  We could maybe come back after lunch with the numbers.  

So, just so you understand, both in terms of revenue and number of customers, residential as a percent of total for the three companies, and that would be, you know, in the last year that we have figures.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Is that as of the last year-end?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  That's okay.

     MR. VIRANEY:  So that will be Undertaking J1.2. 

     UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE FIGURES FOR REVENUE
AND NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS FOR RESIDENTIAL AS A

PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL REVENUE AND NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS FOR ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION, UNION GAS LIMITED AND NRG; TO PROVIDE THE PERCENTAGE OF GROSS MARGIN COMING FROM BOTH RESIDENTIAL AND INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS

     MR. KAISER:  So just so we're not asking Ms. McShane and these people to do work needlessly, would I be right that that would be one of the things that you would look at in determining whether one utility was more risky than another?

     MS. McSHANE:  I don't necessarily look at the number of customers.

     MR. KAISER:  What about revenue?

     MS. McSHANE:  Revenue, no, because --

     MR. KAISER:  Do you know what the Board looked at when it made this determination that Union was more risky than Enbridge?  But you don't know?

     MS. McSHANE:  It may have been revenue at the time.  The reason that revenue is a problem comparing across utilities is because oftentimes it is the larger customers who buy their own gas.  So what I look at is the gross margin that is attributable to the different customer classes.

     So it pulls out the gas costs, and you don't make any money on gas costs and you recover gas costs completely.

     So, for example, I have in front of me the percentage of gross margin that comes from the industrial customers for Enbridge, which is about 8 percent.

     MR. KAISER:  Mm-hm.

     MS. McSHANE:  Versus 17 percent for NRG.  And I do not have in front of me the number for Union, but I have calculated it.  I can find it quite quickly.

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.

     MS. McSHANE:  It's somewhere -- it's much closer to Enbridge than it is to NRG.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  So let's add that to the undertaking, the percentage of gross margin that's coming from both the residentials and the industrials.

     MS. SPOEL:  Ms. McShane, is it reasonable, then, to say -- I just refer to the difference between total revenue, which includes the gas costs, and I agree with you that the cost of gas, since it's basically a pass-through, is not related, doesn't seem to me to be really a relevant criterion in terms of this utility or any other utility's business risk; is that fair? 

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, it to me doesn't give you a very fair picture of the comparability of the revenue -- well, the net revenues, from the different customer classes, if you've got one which is a total bundled utility, and every class buys gas directly from a utility, versus a utility where most of the large customers purchase their own gas. 

     MR. KAISER:  So we'll get the data on the relative gross margins between these two classes of customers.

     But can we assume that, when we're trying to compare utility to utility and make an assessment as to whether one is more risky than the other, that the greater percent of the revenue or gross margin, if you will, that comes from residential, the less risky?  Is that a proposition that you support?

     MS. McSHANE:  Everything else equal, I would agree with that, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  And that would be because there's just greater diversity.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  You've got 5,000 customers to draw from as opposed to 5 or 10 or something; is that the rationale?

     MS. McSHANE:  Again, you know, everything else equal.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  Right.  Okay.  Thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Faye.

     MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FAYE:  (CONT’D) 

     MR. FAYE:  Ms. McShane, before the break we were talking about the tobacco component of the agricultural part of the rate base.  And you had made the comment, I believe, that the tobacco industry was dying.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  And we were talking about this in the context of business risk.  I'd like to ask you, with that foreknowledge that the industry is dying, is it not possible for the utility to forecast in its annual throughput a decline and request from the Board an appropriate increase in unit rates that would eliminate the revenue deficiency caused by tobacco leaving the business?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, they can forecast the decline.  There are other implications of the industry leaving as well.  I mean, there are costs then that have to be borne by other customers, which impacts on the competitiveness of the rates to other customers, which in turn may cause our customers to try to conserve, which reduces the average use per customer.

     So there are ongoing implications of the decline in the industry. 

     MR. KAISER:  Is your client forecasting a decline in industrial revenue in this case?

     MS. McSHANE:  For the test year?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, compared to the existing year.  I mean, are revenues declining?

     MS. McSHANE:  Expected revenues would not be declining in the test year if the deficiency would be recovered, no.

     MR. KAISER:  The forecasted revenues that they expect to get from their customers.

     MS. McSHANE:  From the existing rates?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Well, I understand if rates go up they'll recover.  I'm talking about the revenue, yes, from existing rates.  If rates stayed the same, would revenues be declining?

     MS. McSHANE:  In the test year?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.

     MS. McSHANE:  I don't know whether in the test year that that is the case, whether they're lower or higher.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, are they forecasting that they'll be losing any customers?  Have they told you, when you go to make your opinion, that this is riskier than Union or Enbridge?  Are they forecasting that they will lose customers in the industrial sector?

     MS. McSHANE:  In the test year?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.

     MS. McSHANE:  I have the numbers of customers that they forecast for the test year.

     MR. KAISER:  Are they forecasting that they're going to lose customers?

     MS. McSHANE:  For the test year they were only forecasting that they were going to lose one customer.

     MR. KAISER:  That's an industrial customer?

     MS. McSHANE:  That would mean Imperial tobacco.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Please proceed.

     MR. FAYE:  Back at the tobacco curing business, I think we've established that the utility has the opportunity through its rates to mitigate that risk.  That's where I was going with that question.  If you know there's a business risk and you know what the risk is, and you have the opportunity to request rates from the Board that offset the financial impact of that risk, doesn't that eliminate that risk?

     MS. McSHANE:  No.  It may eliminate it in a test year, but it doesn't eliminate it in the long run.  I mean, I guess the best example of this has been Pacific Northern Gas, which is an example of a small gas utility which had four major industrial customers, three in the pulp and paper industry and one in the methanol business.  And the regulator has, over time, tried to accommodate the company as some of its large industrial customers in the pulp and paper industry closed down.  Finally Methanex closed down.  But there's only, you know, so much room in the rates to remain competitive.  And the stock price fell by over 50 percent, and the company could not go out and raise new debt.

     So the regulator can help mitigate the risk, but they cannot guarantee the success of the company in the long term.  And risk is a long-term phenomenon; it's not just a test year concern.

     MR. FAYE:  I understand.  And I think I might agree with you if the context was the same here, but this context is tobacco.  That has been declining for years now.  It's forecast to further decline.  And I wonder at some point tobacco is going to be a very minor load on NRG's system.  Would you agree with that?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, I do.

     MR. FAYE:  And so, with the decline in the tobacco part of the base, the business risk has to be improving.  If tobacco is the risky agricultural segment, and it's really going to be eliminated, essentially, surely the business risk would improve?

     MS. McSHANE:  I'm not sure I would agree that it would improve.  We still have the issues with the costs associated with the lost load, and what is the impact of that in the long term.  I would suggest that the business risk would probably be perceived by the market if the market we're looking at for this is approximately the same.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Faye, do we have on the record this evidence of this decline and future decline in tobacco?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, Mr. Chair, we do.

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.

     MR. FAYE:  Because we're going to be covering that later with the company representative.  And I didn't expect Ms. McShane to be knowledgeable about the actual forecast of numbers.  But I think the principle is sound, that if your riskiest component leaves the rate base, and presumably this gets replaced eventually with a load that is less risky, then your overall business risk has been mitigated to some extent.

     MS. McSHANE:  There was a part that you add on to the end of that, and that was that it gets replaced by a less risky base.  We don't know what may be replaced.

     MR. FAYE:  But just making the assumption that it does, then could we conclude then from that that -- if it's, for instance, replaced by residential load, could we conclude that the business risk overall improves?  

     MS. McSHANE:  I would say that everything else being equal that would be true.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay, thanks.

     MR. KAISER:  Could I talk to you about -- I don't mean to keep interrupting.  Since we'll be hearing evidence of this, but if you're making an assessment that this company is riskier than other utilities, have you had any regard to this ethanol plant that may become a customer?  Have you factored that into your analysis?

     MS. McSHANE:  No.  I did not.  First of all, it was not on the radar when I did the analysis.  Second of all, when I thought about it after I was aware of it, I think it's still a bit premature to factor this in since it doesn't appear to be at a stage where there's enough certainty about what any arrangements would be with the company which required us to really assess the business risk impact.

     MR. KAISER:  If it did go ahead, do you know how much revenue it would contribute to the company?  Have you looked at that?

     MS. McSHANE:  No, I have not.

     MR. KAISER:  If it did go ahead?

     MS. McSHANE:  No, because I thought it was premature at this point to consider that.

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.

     MR. HOWE:  I'd like to turn now to the Ibbotson Associates study that accompanied your evidence, and just ask a few questions about that.

     As I understand this study, it looks at stock prices of companies in the stock market and compares the various capitalization ratios with returns.  Is that generally the intent of this thing?

     MS. McSHANE:  It compares the returns for companies in different categories of capital size.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MS. SPOEL:  So, Mr. Faye, I've got a bundle of things here accompanying Ms. McShane's report, and I'm just looking for the Ibbotson --

     MR. FAYE:  I'm sorry, Ms. Spoel.  A moment, and I'll give you a reference for that.

     MR. KING:  It's an attachment to IR38. 

     MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

     MR. FAYE:  So I'll just restate that question.

     The report looks at stock prices of companies of various capital sizes, from small to large, and it tries to draw some correlation between the stock price increases and the size of the capitalization.  Is that a fair characterization?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, it tries to determine whether or not there is a relationship between the return and the size.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Can you turn up page 144 of that study.  And in the first sentence on that page, under  "Serial Correlation in Small Company Stock Returns," it says:

"In five of the last ten years, large-capitalization stocks have outperformed small-capitalization stocks."

Would this cause you to have some doubt about the theory's predictability that small-cap stocks outperform large-cap stocks?

     MS. McSHANE:  Not that sentence in and of itself, no.

     MR. FAYE:  Well, let me back up a moment.  If I read the study correctly, the conclusion is that small-cap stocks have a better record of returns than large-cap stocks.  Do I understand that correct?

     MS. McSHANE:  I understand that there is a relationship, yes, between the size and return.  And that is consistent with what history tells us; that small companies are riskier than large companies, which is in the beginning of the second paragraph.

     MR. FAYE:  Mm-hm.  And the whole purpose of including this evidence is support for the notion that a small-cap company such as NRG should have a premium on return on equity compared to a large-cap company in the same industry.  That's where I thought this study was being --

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, I had already drawn the conclusion that it's riskier.  As a small company, there are factors associated with a small company that make it riskier.

     Then the question is, how do you quantify that?  And this was one of the pieces of analysis that I had to make some assessment of how much that premium should be.

     MR. FAYE:  And -- well, if I understand this study, the premium you're talking about, however many basis points, is based on the fact that these small-cap companies outperformed the large-cap by that amount; is that right?

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, what they do is they adjust it for the differences in the beta to determine what the differences are in return, the betas of the smaller company versus the betas of the larger companies.  The betas of the smaller companies are such and such a level, compared to the betas of the mid-cap stocks.

     So what I did was I took the difference in the betas, not in the excess returns, but the difference in the beta between a stock of the size of NRG and a stock the size of an Enbridge, and used the difference in the beta, in conjunction with the Board's estimate of the market risk premium, to determine what the difference in required return was.

     That's different than saying small stocks outperformed large stocks by a hundred and -- let's say 500 basis points; therefore, I will recommend that the return for NRG be 500 basis points higher than that of an Enbridge.  That's not what this analysis is doing.

     All this analysis is doing is taking the difference in the risk factor for small companies and the risk factor for larger companies, taking the difference between the two, and then looking at the premium for the overall market that the Board uses, or it did use, to determine what the difference is.

     So it's entirely within the context of the equity risk premium test that the Board used in the Union/Enbridge generic return hearing.

     MR. FAYE:  Could you elaborate a little bit on this term beta just so that we're sure we understand?

     MS. McSHANE:  The beta -- back up.

     The capital asset pricing model is a form of the equity risk premium test.  Capital asset pricing model says that the required return for a company or a portfolio of companies is equal to the risk-free rate plus a beta, multiplied by the market risk premium.

     The risk-free rate is the long Canada yield in the context of the Board's formula that was applied to come up with the 10.28 percent.  The beta is the relative risk factor that gets -- that is -- or tells you how a particular stock compares to the overall market in terms of relative risk.

     So if a utility has a beta of .6, that means that it's 60 percent as risky as the market.

     So you multiply the .6 times the market risk premium to come up with the equity risk premium that's applicable to the specific utility.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.  The market risk premium, I think you mentioned, is related to the business risks of that group of companies, a small-cap company has a different business risk than a large-cap company?

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, in the context of the market -- when I said "market risk premium," that is the premium over, in the context we're discussing, over long Canadas, that applies to the entire equity market.  And it reflects both the business and financial risks of the entire equity market.

     MR. FAYE:  And then the beta is the thing that distinguishes various categories of companies within that market?

     MS. McSHANE:  That's right.

     MR. FAYE:  And the beta relies on what?

     MS. McSHANE:  Relative volatility of stock prices.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I'm having trouble understanding how you take the model developed in an unregulated, open-market system, where companies compete with each other, for instance, and overlay it on a regulated monopoly that has, essentially, no competition and has rates regulated in order to ensure that they make some reasonable rate of return.

     I wonder how you can just transport that model from the marketplace and plunk it down on here.  Why would the beta of NRG have anything to do with the beta of a competitive company in the marketplace?

     MS. McSHANE:  It's -- well, I'm not using the beta of the small companies.  I'm using the difference in betas between companies of different sizes.

     This is the model, the capital asset pricing model is the model that the Board used to determine the rate of return for gas utilities.  So I guess I'm not quite understanding your question.

     MR. FAYE:  I'm not asking about the Board's model.  I'm simply asking about the Ibbotson study.  The Ibbotson study is based on --

     MS. McSHANE:  Companies in all sectors.

     MR. FAYE:  Companies listed on the stock exchanges.

     MS. McSHANE:  Sure, which would include utilities.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  But the ones that -- the risk that we're talking about is for a regulated monopoly.  The risk profile of a regulated monopoly, I'm sure you would say, would be entirely different that than the risk profile for a company operating in the competitive marketplace, would that be so?

     MS. McSHANE:  No.  Not necessarily, if you're talking about business risk.

     MR. FAYE:  Mm-hm.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, the business risk profiles would be different, but they would be different as among all of the different sectors that the study would cover.  The financial risk of competitive companies would tend to be less than that of utilities because companies with higher business risk tend to use less debt than utilities.

     So that there is more of a tendency for the overall risk to be closer than if all of the sectors were to use the same capital structure ratios.

     MR. FAYE:  All right.  I think what I was getting towards is that it's credible, to me, there's, at least, to reward investors in risky ventures with some sort of a premium.  But I wonder that the same principle would apply to a venture that was relatively risk-free, comparatively speaking.  And what I hear you saying is that there is some way of mapping one to the other.

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, maybe I'm confused by your question.  When you say "awarding them a premium," awarding them a premium over what?

     MR. FAYE:  You're asking the Board to award a premium of approximately 150 basis points over what Enbridge Gas gets.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, but not over what a competitive company would get.  I mean, it's all relative to somebody in the same industry.

     MR. FAYE:  But the theory that supports giving a premium to a small-cap company over a large-cap company comes from the marketplace.  It comes from competitive industry, it doesn't come from regulated monopoly.  Is that not correct?

     MS. McSHANE:  Oh, I see.  So you're saying, you're suggesting, that just because there is a premium for size in one industry, there isn't necessarily a premium for size in another industry.  Is that what --

     MR. FAYE:  I think I was a little more specific than that, but that's the idea behind it; that a premium for size in a competitive marketplace does not necessarily dictate a premium for size in a regulated monopoly.

     MS. McSHANE:  Oh, okay.  Well, if that is what you're suggesting, perhaps we have a tendency -- the royal "we," perhaps I have a tendency to use the word "size" to cover a multitude of factors.  I mean, size has to do with the ability to achieve economies of sale; size has to do with the ability to diversify your risks.  Even a regulated utility, you know, small regulated utilities do not have that same ability as large ones.

     And I think that, you know, I gave an example in this testimony on page 10.  Now, granted this is from the point of view of the bond rating agencies, but the bond rating agencies are also assessing the risk, the business risk, of utilities.

     And here at line 289, DBRS is referring to an electric utility with a $500 million rate base and calling the small size a challenge.  And Moody's -- even though Moody's views it as a relatively low business risk company, rating it at the bottom of the investment grade scale.

     So clearly, regulated utilities are viewed as riskier the smaller they are.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks for that.  Can I just take a moment, Mr. Chair, and confer?

     [Counsel confer]

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think we're almost finished, then.  And I think it would be prudent for us to summarize, because this has been a little bit confusing to try and educate me as we go.

     In summary, could you just highlight, say, the top three reasons why you think that 150 basis point premium is the appropriate premium to award here?

     MS. McSHANE:  So we've already gotten to the point where we agree that there is some premium required?

     MR. FAYE:  No.

     MS. McSHANE:  Oh.

     MR. FAYE:  I'm not agreeing with that.  I'm just saying in order to sort of put something on the record in a concise format for the Panel to review, would you mind just reviewing the important factors.

     MS. McSHANE:  No, I apologize for being silly.  Okay.

     I would start by saying that the analysis of the business risk indicates that NRG is a riskier utility than a major gas distributor like Enbridge.  It is proposing to use the exact same common equity ratio as Enbridge.  If it has higher business risk and a similar level of financial risk, then its overall cost of capital is higher.

     The question is, then, how much higher should the equity return be?  I've looked at that three ways:  One is to look at the difference in the cost of debt to the two utilities; two, I looked at the Ibbotson study which we discussed earlier; and three, I looked at what the difference in the cost of equity is based on the capital structure that had previously been approved for NRG, and the 35 percent equity ratio that it is proposing to use now.  And those three estimates led me to the 150 basis points.

     I would also just point out that if you look at the result compared to what was in place before, the last time the company came in, they were using a 50 percent common equity ratio and the same return as Enbridge.  That was based on an assessment of the business risk that they had approved a 50 percent common equity ratio in the same return.

     If they now move to 35 percent common equity ratio, with no material change in the business risk, there is no reason to believe that the overall cost of capital would be any different, because the overall cost of capital ultimately is a function of the business risk.

     The pieces change.  The cost-of-debt may change and the cost of equity may change, if you change the capital structure.  But the overall cost of capital should be quite similar.

     So that when we were asked, or NRG was asked, the answer to the question what is the impact on the deficiency if you were to use the 50 percent common equity ratio you used last time, and the equity return that you used last time, the numbers are somewhat -- the deficiency was more had they continued to use the 50 percent ratio than it was with the 35 plus the 150 basis point spread.

     But they're relatively close, and that's what you would expect. 

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'll just make one clarification, and that is, you said throughout that that business risk hasn't changed much.  So if the Panel were to find that the business risk had not changed, for instance, that the tobacco had not changed, then the analysis would hold and your recommendation would be 150.  But, should the Panel find that the business risk related to tobacco has changed, would you say that the premium ought to be adjusted on that basis?

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, if the Board believes that the business risk of NRG relative to Enbridge has declined materially, then it would lead to a lower risk premium.

     MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  I don't have any more questions, Mr. Chair.


FURTHER QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MR. KAISER:  Ms. McShane, a couple of questions.  This company has doubled the amount of debt that it now has on its books, right, with this new loan?  They now have a $6.5 million loan from the Scotiabank. 

     MS. McSHANE:  Right.

     MR. KAISER:  Previously, as we were told this morning, through Imperial and a variety of other lines, they had under 3.2 something; right?  There's no doubt about that is there?

     MS. McSHANE:  I don't think so.  I think that's right.

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.  The fact that the company has increased its debt, doubled its debt, has that increased its risk?  Do you regard this company riskier or would somebody regard it riskier?

     MS. McSHANE:  The equity is riskier.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MS. McSHANE:  Because there was 70 percent equity before.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  You told us in your opening, I thought, that as a general proposition, the more debt the company has, the riskier it is?

     MS. McSHANE:  Correct.

     MR. KAISER:  Now, I notice that 3 million of this new debt was used to make a special dividend to the shareholder.  Came in and went out.  Should we take that into account?  

In other words, let me complete so I'm -- I'm not trying to trick you here.  I'm just wondering whether we should be concerned that the ratepayers -- if the company became riskier and therefore requires risk premium which gets translated into higher rates, whether, from a shareholders' perspective, a consumer perspective, the Board should be concerned that that risk was, in part, created by the fact that the shareholder desired and did make a special $3 million payment to himself, and that has cost consequences to the utility and the ratepayers are being asked to pick it up.

     Do you think that's relevant for us to consider?

     MS. McSHANE:  I think it would be relevant if it were a problem.  But this company hasn't made dividend distributions, as far as I know, since 1994, because they couldn't.  Whereas every other utility in -- well, the other major utilities here and every other utility in Canada makes regular dividend distributions to maintain the equity ratio approximately at the level that the Board allows.

     So what had happened with this company is that because it couldn't make payments, the equity ratio rose to 70 percent.  It finally was able to make a payment.  So finally, the shareholder received a dividend.

     MR. KAISER:  Here's my problem.  You've been in this business a long time.  The Board sets just and reasonable rates.

     MS. McSHANE:  Right.

     MR. KAISER:  And according to public utility law, that's supposed to provide a reasonable return to the shareholder.

     MS. McSHANE:  Correct.

     MR. KAISER:  And it's done that, right?  Or are you saying the Board screwed up --

     MS. McSHANE:  No.

     MR. KAISER:  -- and the rates that we set were not just and reasonable, and this is a makeup to the shareholder?

     MS. McSHANE:  Absolutely not.  I am not suggesting that in the least.  What I'm suggesting is that the Board set the rates based on 50 percent equity.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.

     MS. McSHANE:  Because that was what everybody agreed was an appropriate equity ratio.  It doesn't mean it's the only appropriate equity ratio, but it was an appropriate equity ratio in conjunction with an appropriate equity return.

     They were matched to each other.  Equity return that was allowed reflected the amount of equity ratio.

     The Board wasn't, probably, prepared to go above 50 percent equity.  How many utilities are there in this country that --

     MR. KAISER:  But, with respect, I don't know what that has to do with my question.

     Let's take it differently.  Let's suppose Union doubled its debt and used half of that new debt to make a special dividend to Duke.  And by doubling its debt it became riskier, and therefore they came to the Board and said, Give us a higher return on equity.  We're risky, and the market says we're risky.  Our bond rating has fallen from triple A to whatever, and they wanted a premium.  Right?  They wanted an even bigger premium.  They wanted a 150 basis point premium over Enbridge instead of the current one.

     On exactly the same argument as you're advancing here today, I doubt the Board would grant it.

     MS. McSHANE:  I don't think it's the same argument, with all due respect.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, tell me what's different about it.  I don't understand what's different about it.

     MS. McSHANE:  Union Gas maintains a common equity ratio within the range of equity ratios maintained by the industry.  I mean, it would be foolhardy for them to go out and double the amount of debt that they had.

     MR. KAISER:  That's not my question.  My question was, if they did exactly what NRG is doing today, and they came with exactly the same argument, Give us 150 basis points over Enbridge because we're riskier, what would we do?

     MS. McSHANE:  So you're suggesting that they would have reduced their common equity ratio from 35 to 50 percent?

     MR. KAISER:  I'm just saying -- yes.

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, to me that would be totally unreasonable.  So you would say, no, go away.

     MR. KAISER:  No, but you're missing my point.  The reason this company has -- I mean, in part.  You've talked about the agricultural with tobacco and all of that.  Granted.

     But we have an additional factor here.  And you've admitted it, that the more debt, the riskier a company is.  This company has doubled its debt.  It has doubled its debt in large part to make a special one-time payment to a shareholder.  And I'm suggesting if that happened, if a company doubled its debt and used half of that to make a special payment to its shareholder, Duke Energy, it's very unlikely that the Board would grant them a premium based on that.

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, I think the circumstances are quite different to --

     MR. KAISER:  And what are the different circumstances?

     MS. McSHANE:  The differences -- the difference is that NRG has not been able to make dividend payments.

     MR. KAISER:  I understand that.  Is that the fault of the regulator?  Is that the fault of --

     MS. McSHANE:  No.

     MR. KAISER:  -- the customer?

     MS. McSHANE:  No.  It's not the fault of the regulator or the customer.  It was a function of the specific terms of the debt issue that was made in 1994, when the Board urged NRG to go out and get third-party financing.  They went out and got third-party financing.  It was a requirement that they could not make dividend payments.

     So now they've got equity up at 70 percent.  They can't earn on 70 percent because a 70 percent equity ratio is not consistent with the levels of equity ratios used for ratemaking purposes for gas distributors.

     Even if the company had gone out and refinanced just to get down to 50 percent, they would have made a special payment to their shareholders to get their actual equity ratio down to where the allowed ratio is.  Enbridge Gas, a number of years ago, applied to this Board to increase -- well, had 38 percent equity.  They applied to the Board to increase their common equity ratio -- maybe it was 39 and a half -- to increase their common equity ratio to 39 and a half.  The Board said no.  We think that's excessive.  Your equity ratio is 35.

     So Enbridge paid out to their shareholder the difference between 35 and 39 and a half, and went out and raised debt to make up the difference.

     I mean, that's what's going on.  The company is restructuring its capital structure to take advantage of the fact that it can raise debt at this point, and it has to pay out the difference to bring its equity to the level that the Board is going to approve for regulatory purposes.

     MR. KAISER:  So it's a one-time adjustment to get its capital structure back in line with the other utilities?

     MS. McSHANE:  Absolutely.

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.  Thank you.  

Mr. Stoll, do you have any questions?

     MR. STOLL:  Yes, I do.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. STOLL:


MR. STOLL:  With the equity risk premium, if you have two companies within the same industry and one is more risky than the other.

     MS. McSHANE:  Business risk?

     MR. STOLL:  Business risk.  If the benchmark of those two companies -- assume one company is benchmarked and the other company is not.  If the benchmark reduces, would the other company reduce in lock step as an absolute amount or would it more be a proportional amount; i.e., if the premium, let's say, 10 percent, it would be 10 percent of the lower amount?  Or is there no...

     MS. McSHANE:  So, are you asking the question, if we took the Board's formula, for example, the Board's formula changes every year.

     MR. STOLL:  Right.

     MS. McSHANE:  Based on what the forecast long Canada is.

     MR. STOLL:  Exactly.

     MS. McSHANE:  So are you asking if I went from a long Canada of, say, 6 percent to a long Canada of 5 percent, would the premium be 150 at both levels?

     MR. STOLL:  Yes.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  That's the way I would envision it working.

     MR. STOLL:  And it would work that way everyone if it were larger than a 1 percent?

     MS. McSHANE:  One percent?

     MR. STOLL:  Like, if the benchmark changed 4 to 5 percent, it would still move in lock step?

     MS. McSHANE:  That's typically the way that regulators have made that work, yes.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  The reason I'm asking is, you told Mr. Faye this morning that not a lot of change relative for NRG compared to Enbridge.

     MS. McSHANE:  Risk-wise.

     MR. STOLL:  Risk-wise.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. STOLL:  But when it had a 35 percent debt-equity ratio in 1995, the premium was only 135 basis points, as opposed to the 150 you're asking for now.

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, that was 11 years ago, and based on different data.  So I know what your point is, but I'm not sure that you can just take the two of them and...

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I'm just trying to understand why it seems to be an increase when the risk in the industry has decreased. 

      Like, the spread is increased -- they've gotten farther apart, from what you're saying, even though the numbers are getting smaller.

     MS. McSHANE:  Okay.  There are a lot of factors wrapped up in your statement.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I'm just trying to understand.

     MS. McSHANE:  First of all, you mentioned that the risk had declined for the industry.  I don't think anybody has agreed that the risks for the industry have declined.  But let's assume that they've stayed the same, because, I mean, there has been no evidence here that the risks for the industry have declined, the gas industry.

     MR. STOLL:  Well, is risk not commensurate with the return?  The return has --

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. STOLL:  Maybe I've misspoken.  The overall combination of risk, capital risk and other things.  Well, then, why is the return on equity decreased for the industry?

     MS. McSHANE:  Because interest rates have gone down, period.  Not because there's been a change in the risk of the industry.  The cost of capital in the economy has declined.

     MR. STOLL:  So if you have an industry that's faced with lower debt obligations because the interest rate has declined, does that not make it less risky?

     MS. McSHANE:  It's relative.  If the cost of debt declines and the cost of equity declines similarly, then there's no change in the relative relationship between the two.  So if I have, just throw out relative numbers -- let's say the interest rate is 10 percent, the equity return's 15.  So, you know, you have a certain spread between the two.

      If interest rates are now 5 and the equity return is 10.  I mean, you know, both are coming down together.

     MR. STOLL:  Right, but --

     MS. McSHANE:  But that doesn't mean the risk of the industry has declined or that the risk of equities have declined.

     MR. STOLL:  But your risk premium you're associating in this circumstance has increased over that ten-year period relatively?

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, first of all, we're talking about a difference of about 15 basis points.  And second of all, I mean, this was just what happened to be the return differential at the time.  It could have been determined on any number of factors.  I don't think you can make a direct connection between the 135 and the 150 and say definitively you are proposing an increase in the risk premium.  I'd say they were fairly comparable.

     MR. STOLL:  Now, if we can go to the metrics table.

     MS. McSHANE:  This is at the very back?

     MR. STOLL:  The very back, and I think you updated it in your update, in line 33 of the update.

     Generally speaking, is it correct to say that the higher the ratios, within reason, the better the company or the less risky the company gets?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  We're dealing within an industry.

     MR. STOLL:  Right.  Would this one-time cash payment have any impact on any of these financial metrics?

     MS. McSHANE:  No.

     MR. STOLL:  So if NRG had decided that it was going to maintain a 50/50 ratio and borrowed less money.

     MS. McSHANE:  I'm sorry.  I misunderstood your question.  If they had decided to maintain a 50 percent equity ratio.

     MR. STOLL:  Right.  Would that change the metrics?

     MS. McSHANE:  It could.  I don't know what they'd look like, but, yes, they could be somewhat different.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  On page 15 of your report at line 30, or 430, excuse me, at line 430, in trying to assess the risk, you compare NRG to an LDC like Enbridge.

     MS. McSHANE:  The cost of debt.

     MR. STOLL:  Right.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. STOLL:  Would it not have been a more useful comparison to have asked the Bank of Nova Scotia what the premium would have been for making the larger loan; instead of having a 65/35, having a 50/50?  So that, assuming a larger debt increases the risk for the lender, they would attach a premium by changing the debt/equity ratio?

    But I guess it follows up on the questions that were asked earlier.  This has been a one-time payment where the shareholder has pulled out over $2 million from this company.  And the ratepayer is being asked to pay for the interest on all the debt that's associated with the loan, and they're asked to take on a risk premium with the equity as well. 

     MS. McSHANE:  And they're being asked to pay for 15 percentage points less equity. 

     MR. STOLL:  Right.  So you're saying the overall capital cost, you're saying --

     MS. McSHANE:  Is lower.

     MR. STOLL:  Is lower.

     MS. McSHANE:  Correct.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, is that the case that the -- I wonder if over the lurch you could do the numbers.  I think the question that Mr. Stoll is putting is that even though there may be costs to the customer as a result of payment of this special dividend, you're suggesting that's offset by the fact that the amount of equity's being reduced and of course equity is more expensive than debt.

     MS. McSHANE:  Correct.

     MR. KAISER:  Could we actually do the numbers over the break?

     MS. McSHANE:  Exactly which numbers would you like to see, because we --

     MR. KAISER:  Well, whether the customer's better off or not.

     MS. McSHANE:  We know that already, because we have an IR in which we were asked --

     MR. KING:  It's 35.

     MS. McSHANE:  Mr. Kaiser, do you have that?

     MR. KAISER:  I'm trying to find it.  I've got a package of stuff here that's not marked but I'll find it.  

     Okay.  I have it.

     MR. STOLL:  I did question 35; correct?

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. STOLL:  I guess what I'm suggesting, this is from the third paragraph of the response, you said that:

"The second scenario assumes the long-term debt borrowing would have been lower to reflect the 50 percent equity component."

Did you incorporate a different debt rate or did you use the debt rate of the instrument at 65 percent in making that statement?

     MS. McSHANE:  The same debt rate.

     MR. STOLL:  But would the bank not have been willing to issue a lowered rate on the debt instrument if the debt component of the utility was lower?

     MS. McSHANE:  I suppose all things equal, yes.

     MR. STOLL:  What would not be equal in these circumstances?

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, what I was going to say was they may not have been interested in issuing a debt at all, because there are certain thresholds for lenders, and they may simply have said $3.5 million is simply too little for us to be interested in taking the time and the effort to issue the loan, monitor the results.

     I agree with you that, yes, in principle there should have been less risk in a lower cost.  I don't know whether the bank would have seen it that way.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, we're not suggesting the Bank of Nova Scotia doesn't lend below 3.5 million.  You know, that they don't bother with loans below that amount.

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, there certainly have been times when small businesses have, you know, not been able to raise money because, believe it or not, they didn't want enough.  I mean, it sounds -- it may sound silly, but, you know, there is time and effort involved in taking care of the loans, and they may have said we're just not interested in lending you $3.5 million.

     MR. STOLL:  I guess maybe we can go back.

     To get to a 50/50 debt/equity, they could have borrowed up to probably approximately 5 million as opposed to a lower $3 million number; correct?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, the rate base is 9.7.

     MR. STOLL:  Approximately 10.  So, plus or minus.

     Do you know if NRG ever asked that question or considered that scenario?

     MS. McSHANE:  I think that's something you need to speak to Mr. Bristoll about.

     MR. STOLL:  All right.  That's fine.

      But the business risk, though, for the utility, from the perspective of the lender, would not have changed -- like, would not change from prior to making the loan to just after making the loan?

     MS. McSHANE:  That's true.  I mean, the business risk is related to the asset side of the balance sheet.

     MR. STOLL:  Right.

     MS. McSHANE:  And, no, it would not have changed.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  If there's a diversification in the industrial customer base, that would tend to reduce the risk?

     MS. McSHANE:  If there's a diversification in the industrial base, that would tend to decrease the risk.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I guess when you're talking about the tobacco risk and the concentration of NRG's dependence upon the tobacco industry, when were those numbers looked at?  Were they looked at for the test year or for the current year?

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, the numbers have been looked at since the first time I did an analysis of their business risk back in 1994.

     So I would have looked at the numbers before I prepared the evidence.  I would have compared them to what had happened in the past.  I was aware of what happened to the quotas after I prepared the evidence. 

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So you would have been able to, basically, look at, if we can call this concentration risk, the evolution of the concentration risk.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. STOLL:  Is it possible to get the evolution of the concentration risk?

     MS. McSHANE:  Do you mean can we get a history of the tobacco volumes?

     MR. STOLL:  No.  The dependence of NRG on the tobacco industry.

     MS. McSHANE:  That's what I meant by volumes. 

     MR. STOLL:  Oh, sorry.  

     MS. McSHANE:  The volumes of gas that were delivered to the tobacco industry over time. 

     MR. STOLL:  Relative to the other customers?  I'm trying to understand if it's becoming more or less dependent.  I assume it's becoming less dependent on the tobacco industry, relative to perceived customer growth on the residential side.

     MS. McSHANE:  I think I have a history of those numbers.  I think they are -- at least relative.  We just lost a major customer 

     MR. STOLL:  And once that risk has materialized, how do you deal with that going forward?  And how is that factored into the risk analysis?

     MS. McSHANE:  It's a judgment based on what the remaining industry looked like and the impact on the overall service area, and the potential, as I discussed before, of, you know, having costs that have to be borne by other customers, which impact the competitiveness of the company's rates.

     MR. STOLL:  One of the factors in the risk profile that you noted is the change in the regulator's position relative to bypass.  Did you consider any of NRG's current customers as a candidate for bypass?

     MS. McSHANE:  My understanding is, there are no current customers who are bypass candidates, other than Imperial Tobacco might have been, but...

     MR. STOLL:  Might have been.

     MS. McSHANE:  So it's more a question of the ability to attach new customers for them.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So it's prospective, it's not --

     MS. McSHANE:  For NRG that's correct.  More a prospective risk.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Also, you noted the dependence on the Western Canada Sedimentary Basin, but NRG receives a significant amount of local gas relative to most.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, they do.

     MR. STOLL:  So isn't that risk muted compared to some of the other utilities in Ontario.

     MS. McSHANE:  It may be.  I don't view the supply risk is being a major risk at this point.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.

     MS. McSHANE:  But it has changed since the last time the risk was evaluated.

     MR. STOLL:  I guess when -- I'm just going back to the point -- I'm trying to understand, when does the risk premium get factored in, when it first becomes known?  Or, like, presumably the tobacco industry has been in decline for a number of years.  This risk would have been factored into NRG's financial position.  The fact that the risk was realized has an impact, but it shouldn't have changed the premium necessarily.

     MS. McSHANE:  And it hasn't.  Maybe just to clarify, the only change that's been reflected is the change in the capital structure.

     MR. STOLL:  Right.

     MS. McSHANE:  So the 15 percentage point decline in equity is made up for by an increase in the equity return, period.

     MR. STOLL:  Right.  And I guess I go back to the conversation with the Chair earlier, where NRG chose to move their debt/equity structure to the 35 percent.

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  From 70 percent.  Which you were saying was the actual approximate debt/equity.  They could have gone to the 50/50.

     MS. McSHANE:  Right.  And then you would have been paying for 15 percentage points more equity.

     MR. STOLL:  At a lower rate.

     MS. McSHANE:  But the cost is still the same.

     MR. STOLL:  But when you did the numbers, presumably the debt rate would decrease as well.

     MS. McSHANE:  It may have been.  It may have.  But it's a decline in overall cost.

     MR. STOLL:  But would the utility's management not look at the options that are available and their potential impact, both for themselves and for the ratepayers?

     MS. McSHANE:  I would imagine they would.

     MR. STOLL:  All right.  I'll take that up later with Mr. Bristoll.

     Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.


FURTHER QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MS. SPOEL:  Ms. McShane, I just want to come back to this question of the relative costs between, say, a 50 percent equity and 35 percent. 

     And I guess the first question I have is what is an appropriate return on equity if it was a 50 percent equity ratio?

     MS. McSHANE:  It would be the same equity return as Enbridge Gas, which was calculated on this Exhibit K1.3. 

     MS. SPOEL:  So it was 8.78 percent, I think you said?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  And so I think if you looked at that exhibit, line 29, that would be the number that would be applicable to Enbridge based on the July 2006.

     MS. SPOEL:  Right.  So in your opinion, if you had the 50 percent debt/50 percent equity scenario for this company, the interest on the debt would be approximately 7.5 percent?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes, it could be a bit different but --

     MS. SPOEL:  Perhaps could be a bit different. The return equity on that percent of it would be 57.8 percent.

     MS. McSHANE:  Correct.

     MS. SPOEL:  Whereas with a 65/35 ratio, you would increase the amount of -- the return on equity would be increased...

     MS. McSHANE:  Right.

     MS. SPOEL:  And your interest rate would still run at, in this case, 7.52 percent.

     MS. McSHANE:  Right.

     MS. SPOEL:  And so the relative difference in the cost is just taking those 8.78 percent times that approximately $5 million of equity.

     MS. McSHANE:  Correct.

     MS. SPOEL:  Versus 10.2 percent times a lower amount of equity; say, 3.59.

     MS. McSHANE:  Right.

     MS. SPOEL:  And that's really what the math is here.

     MS. McSHANE:  Right.

     MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Is it a wash, pretty well?

     MS. McSHANE:  No, it's not a wash because there are kind of two theories behind the relationship between equity return and capital structure.

     The first is, essentially there is a watch that to the extent that the debt ratio goes up, the equity return goes up, the cost of capital stays the same.

     The second theory, and this is a very -- it's subject to assumptions that really are less than realistic, and that is that as you raise the debt ratio, the overall cost of capital continues to decline.  Well, we know that that cannot be true, because if it were true, then everybody would have 100 percent debt, and it doesn't factor in, you know, the extra financial distress and the bankruptcy risks.  So that the truth is somewhere in between.  

So the result is that the requested overall return is somewhat lower, with the higher debt ratio than with the 50 percent debt ratio.

     MR. KAISER:  The other piece in your evidence where you dealt with this risk premium was the difference that the BC Commission found with respect to tariffs of gas and FortisBC.  And I think there, correct me if I am wrong, the Commission gave Fortis a 40 basis point premium.

     MS. McSHANE:  Plus 5 percentage points in the equity.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.

     MS. McSHANE:  For a company that's less risky than NRG.

     MR. KAISER:  How do you make that conclusion, that FortisBC is less risky than NRG?

     MS. McSHANE:  Because it's a $500 million company that has a relatively good growth area, although it is small, relatively speaking.  It has a system of deferral accounts.  There's deferral account on interest -- short-term interest expense, for example, that give it a fairly high assurance of recovery of return.  It's hydro-based electricity, which means it really doesn't compete with anybody in terms of alternative fuels.

     MR. KAISER:  And are they still allowing them that premium?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  So that's a current decision?

     MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Do you have any re-examination, Mr. King?

     MR. KING:  I have none.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  All right.  We'll take the luncheon break at this point.  

Do you have something, Mr. Faye?

     MR. FAYE:  Just one item I'd like to clarify, Mr. Chair, before we break.  Mr. Stoll requested information on gas volumes of tobacco compared to total volumes over a period of time.  And I wonder if that -- if the company is giving an undertaking to do that or whether that matter is dropped.

     MR. KAISER:  I thought there was an undertaking, wasn't there?

     MR. STOLL:  If we could have it as an undertaking, I would appreciate that.

     MR. KING:  Just for the parameters.

     MR. KAISER:  What period are we looking at?

     MR. KING:  Yes, what period, and the tobacco volumes are going to consist of a Rate 2 class.  All of those customers are tobacco growers, and one customer in our Rate 3 class, which is the Imperial tobacco processing plant.  So if those are the volumes you're looking for.

     MR. KAISER:  Why don't we go back to the point where Ms. McShane started on this.  Did you say 1994, when you did your first study on NRG?

     MR. KING:  From '94.

     MR. STOLL:  If that's available.  We'd appreciate it.

     MR. VIRANEY:  That will be Undertaking J1.3.

     MR. KAISER:  Undertaking J1.3?  Thank you.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PRODUCE GAS VOLUMES OF TOBACCO VERSUS TOTAL VOLUMES

MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll come back at 1:30.  Thank you.

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.

     --- On resuming at 2:11 p.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

Mr. King.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MR. KING:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

Before I introduce Mr. Bristoll and Mr. Aiken, I would like to take the Panel through Exhibit A1, tab 3, to make some corrections to the pre-filed evidence.

     It's the first three pages there at Exhibit A1, tab 3.  So that's schedule 1, 2, and 3.  And it relates to the nature of the relationship between Natural Resource Gas Limited and what we have up to this point in time called their affiliates.  We found out a few days ago, after some digging, that they are technically not affiliates.

     And if you're looking at Exhibit A1, tab 3, schedule 1, this is the corporate organization chart which shows the Wilsher Trust owning all of the voting shares of NRG Corp.  That's the gas-producing company.  Natural Resource Gas Limited.  Obviously, the distributor.  Cornerstone Properties Inc., and Ayerswood Development Corp.

     And I'll explain the affiliate issue.  That corporate organization chart is incorrect.  The Wilsher Trust owns 100 percent of the voting shares of Natural Resource Gas Limited.  So that portion is correct.

     The rest of it is incorrect.  NRG Corp. is owned by a separate trust.  And Ayerswood Development Corp. is owned by a different separate trust.

     I'm going to leave aside Cornerstone properties because there's no transactional relationship between the distributor and Cornerstone today.  

When the utility was bought by Mr. Graat in 1979, it was bought out of bankruptcy, and the utility, along with the other companies, were affiliates because they were all owned by Mr. Graat.  In 2002, for estate planning reasons, all of the voting shares in the companies, were transferred to different trusts.  And initially they had the same two trustees, which still meant that they were affiliates because the affiliates were common to all of the trusts.

And I'm using the affiliate definition that the Board uses in the Affiliate Relationship Code for gas utilities, which just adopts the OBCA, the Ontario Business Corporations Act definition, which turns on control.

     In November 2005, the fact that there were two common trustees changed.  More trustees were added, and the trustees are all different now, such that no trust is able to control another trust.  So, technically, they are unaffiliated.

     At the end of the day, and I've spoken with Mr. Faye about this, I think it has no bearing on this case.  They are still related entities.  The beneficiaries of all of the trusts are common.  Certain employees are common.  So for the purposes of a rate case and your scrutiny, I would assume, and I think Mr. Faye agrees, that you're going to apply the same level of scrutiny to these transactions among these related parties as if they were affiliates.  They're not arm's-length.

     But technically, our reference to them is affiliates, which occurs on schedule 3 of that Exhibit A1, tab 3, and in a bunch of interrogatories in the IR responses.  The questions were asked and they were responded on the basis as if they were affiliates.  Technically they're not affiliates.  They are related, though.

     The only other correction I have is to schedule 2 at Exhibit A1, tab 3.  And that's the organization chart for the distributor.  And the only change I wanted to make there is chairman of the Board is the incorrect title.  Mr. Bristoll holds that position.  He is not a member of the Board.  It is a chairman title and it is an officer position; it's not a director.

     MR. KAISER:  But who is on the Board?

     MR. KING:  I'm going to leave that to Mr. Bristoll to answer.

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.

     MR. KING:  If there are no questions on that, I'll introduce these two.  If you want, for example, an updated corporate organization chart to be filed, I'm able to do that.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Why don't you do that.

     MR. KING:  Could we give that an undertaking?

     MR. KAISER:  What number is that, Mr. Faye?  

     MR. FAYE:  Could you repeat the undertaking?

     MR. KING:  I'm going to provide an updated, correct, corporate organization chart for NRG-related parties.

     MR. VIRANEY:  And that would be Undertaking J1.4.

     UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:   TO PROVIDE UPDATED CORPORATE

ORGANIZATION CHART FOR NRG-RELATED ENTITIES

     MR. KING:  If there's nothing else, I'd ask that the witnesses be sworn.

     NRG – PANEL 2:

     Randall Earl Aiken; Sworn.

     Mark John Bristoll; Sworn.

     EXAMINATION BY MR. KING:

     MR. KING:  Mr. Aiken, I'm going to start with you.  For the past 14 years, I understand you've been the principal of Aiken & Associates, which is a consulting company in the area of public utility regulation; is that correct?

     MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.

     MR. KING:  And for several years prior to that, you were a senior economist at Union Gas?

     MR. AIKEN:  Correct.

     MR. KING:  I understand that you have a bachelor of mathematics from the University of Waterloo; is that correct?

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

     MR. KING:  And you also hold a master's degree in economics from the University of Waterloo.

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

     MR. KING:  Mr. Aiken, I understand that you were involved in the preparation of the pre-filed evidence, of the updates to that evidence, and responses to the information requests; is that correct?

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes, I was.

     MR. KING:  And are those materials true and correct, given my comments on the affiliate issues, to the best of your knowledge?

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes, they are.

     MR. KING:  And do you have any corrections to the material that's been filed?

     MR. AIKEN:  No, I don't.

     MR. KING:  Do you adopt those materials for the purposes of this proceeding?

     MR. AIKEN:  I do.

     MR. KING:  Mr. Bristoll, you have a bachelor of arts in economics; is that correct?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. KING:  And you are a chartered accountant.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That is correct.

     MR. KING:  And based on your CV, which is at Exhibit A1, tab 6, schedule 2, from 1989 through to 1997 you were a practicing accountant?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. KING:  And since then you have held a variety of positions, including controller, manager of business planning, and then, most recently, prior to NRG, the position of CFO at a housing firm; is that correct?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. KING:  And you currently hold the title of chairman at Natural Resource Gas Limited, as of May 1st?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. KING:  Mr. Bristoll, were you involved in the preparation of the pre-filed evidence, the updated evidence, and the responses to the information requests?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I was.

     MR. KING:  And are those materials true and correct, to the best of your knowledge?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. KING:  And do you have any corrections to the material that's been filed?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I do not.

     MR. KING:  And do you adopt those materials for the purposes of this proceeding?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I do.

     MR. KING:  Mr. Chair, these witnesses are available for questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Faye.

     MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chair, I understand that Mr. King would like to have Mark Bristoll make an opening statement at this time.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Bristoll.

     OPENING STATEMENT BY MR. BRISTOLL:  

     MR. BRISTOLL:  As previously mentioned by Mr. King, Natural Resource Gas was purchased in 1997 out of bankruptcy by Tony Graat.  Over the next 20, 25 years, great efforts and monies were spent to expand and to replace the original steel pipe with plastic pipe.  Between the years 1991 to the present, Natural Resource Gas Limited has seen its customer base grow from somewhere around 2,000 customers to just over 6,500 customers.

     In August of 2005, I was asked by the trustees of NRG to assist in the financing of the company and to help management as required.  As a consequence of that request, I renegotiated the new financing and was instrumental in the preparation of the pre-filed evidence and updated evidence currently under review by the Board.

     In March 2006, Sandy McCallum (phon), the company's long-time financial manager, was released from his duties and replaced by our current financial manager.

     In May 2006, William Blake, president and general manager, resigned.

     Currently I fulfill the role of chairman and act as interim president and general manager until such time as a suitable replacement can be found for the general manager position.

     Recently, the Ontario Flue-Cured Tobacco Growers Marketing Board issued its annual report whereby the Chair of the Board has suggested that the Government put an exit plan in place by the end of September 2006 -- prior to planning for any 2007 production.  In late calendar 2005, Imperial Tobacco announced their intention to shut down their Aylmer, Ontario, tobacco processing plant.  These two announcements represent a blow to the economy of the Town of Aylmer and the surrounding countryside and to the annual volumes consumed within our franchise area.  As a consequence, we have filed updated evidence that shows an increase in delivery-related forecast efficiency to 135,000 from $9,900.  

     At the present moment, there is no obvious crop substitute for our farmers that could replace the loss of the tobacco crop.  For NRG, there's no obvious load substitute to replace the volumes consumed by the loss of the seasonal tobacco harvest or the Imperial Tobacco consumption.

     Currently we are working closely with the Town of Aylmer and IGPC, a potential ethanol producer and intervenor in this current rate case, towards the building of an ethanol plant in Aylmer, Ontario.

     The anticipated hourly average natural gas consumption of this facility is 220 gJs per hour.  However, it has yet to be determined whether the impact of the inclusion of these volumes will be positive, negative, or neutral on existing customer rates.

     It is also yet to be determined if the facility will be built at all.

     In order to compensate for the lost volumes from the wind-down of the tobacco industry within the franchise area, a new and vigorous focus has been placed on our sales and marketing efforts.

     These efforts focus on new service line additions and increasing the average consumption of the current customer base.

     It is our belief that by providing our customers with quality customer experience we will be able to increase our market penetration within the franchise area.  It is also our belief that the current rates application before the Board is fair and balanced for all stakeholders, that it has addressed the Board's concerns regarding the company's financing arrangements and that the proposed debt-to-equity structure of 35 percent equity, 65 percent debt, is fair and equitable for all parties.

     It is our hope that the Board appreciates this and will provide a decision and order on just and reasonable rates to be proposed.  This concludes my opening statement. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  You're welcome.

     MR. KAISER:  Before Mr. Faye starts, you referred to the ethanol plant.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. KAISER:  I understand you don't know whether it will get built or it won't get built, but if it did get built with the type of volumes that you just described, why wouldn't it be a positive benefit to the company?  Why would there be some doubt as to whether it would impact favourably or unfavourably on the company?

     MR. AIKEN:  I can respond to that, Mr. Chair.

     The ethanol plant brings with it a large addition to the rate base, somewhere in the neighbourhood of a 40 to 50 percent increase in the rate base, because a 31-kilometre, 6-inch steel line would have to be built from the ethanol plant across NRG's territory to where it connects with Union Gas.

     And Union Gas as well has to increase its capacity to serve NRG.  So I believe that they are indicating that there would be the aid to construct that NRG would have to pay for their portion, plus the 31 kilometres of steel pipeline which would have, you know, value of maybe $5 million.  And that's on a rate base right now of less than 10 million.  

So the first thing is the cost of capital on that rate base would go up substantially.

     The second thing is that depreciation costs that would be recovered through rates would go up substantially.  The property taxes would go up substantially, because you would be paying property taxes on 31 kilometres of a high-value pipeline.

     I believe the numbers I've estimated -- the property taxes alone are, like, a $60,000 incremental cost a year.

     There is the cost that NRG would pay to Union Gas under the M9 delivery contract, which would more than double because the peak demand basically doubles with the ethanol plant.  And the annual volumes, I believe, are in the neighbourhood of triple.  All that extra gas capacity has to come through Union, which means that the M9 cost would rise somewhere in the neighbourhood of 400 to $500,000 a year.

     Another thing is that on the capital tax, right now NRG is exempt from the capital tax because they have assets of less than $10 million.  When that goes over the $10 million threshold, they do not qualify any more in their entirety for the small business deduction.  So there are tax consequences, and there are a number of cost-of-service impacts that, at this point in time, we can't estimate, you know, how much the incremental cost-of-service will be versus the incremental revenue.

     MR. KAISER:  But presumably, Mr. Aiken, you wouldn't build unless the incremental revenue was greater than the incremental cost.

     MR. AIKEN:  Or we would -- yes, we would probably design a rate to ensure that would happen.  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  And you would come to the Board for a leave-to-construct, in any event, associated with this project?

     MR. AIKEN:  That's my understanding, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  And those economics would all be investigated at that time?

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  One further question.  We've heard some evidence from Ms. McShane about risk and prospects in the community and so on.  That seems to be at odds with the figure that you just stated that the customer base between '91 and the present grew from 2,000 to 6,500.  That looks like a pretty good growth rate.  Am I missing something? 

     MR. BRISTOLL:  You're saying that the growth rate is at odds with Ms. McShane's --

     MR. KAISER:  Well, I had the impression listening to Ms. McShane that, you know, tobacco revenues had been falling, that for a long period of time things were in decline.  But those are pretty impressive figures over a little more than a decade, growing from 2,000 customers to 6,500 customers.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I agree that those are impressive figures, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I'm not sure that it means that the risk in the franchise area has been reduced, though.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, it's certainly getting more diversified than it used to be if the number of customers tells you anything about diversity.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  There are a lot more customers.  That's correct; yes.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

     Mr. Faye, are you going to proceed first?  Is that the plan?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, Mr. Chair.

     MR. KAISER:  Before you go, can I ask you, Mr. Stoll, are we going to hear from your client in these proceedings?

     MR. STOLL:  We were not intending on leading evidence at this time.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FAYE:
     MR. FAYE:  A couple of questions, Mr. Bristoll, on your role in the company.

     You clarified that chairman doesn't mean chairman of the board, and that you were essentially the chief executive officer, the managing officer of the company; is that correct?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That is correct.

     MR. FAYE:  Are you involved with any of the other businesses that up until now have been called "affiliates" but are now clarified as not strictly affiliates?  Are you involved with those businesses in any way?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I am.

     MR. FAYE:  And some of those businesses do provide services to NRG?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That is correct. 

     MR. FAYE:  How do you allocate your time?  How much of your time would be allocated to NRG-regulated activities and how much to this other business?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Well, since May the 1st, my time has been -- almost 80, 90 percent of my time has gone towards this rate case, and also towards energy-related activities, because of the void in management structure.

     MR. FAYE:  And would you expect that that ratio of your time would continue to be about that same?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We're actively searching to replace the general manager position.  It would be my expectation when that position is filled at some time in the future my role would diminish as this person comes on line and becomes much more proficient.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.

     I'd like to review a little bit of the ground that we covered with Ms. McShane and ask a few questions that we didn't expect that she would have the answers to but I'd hoped that you would.

     One of the outstanding questions around this debt/equity ratio change is the reason for doing it in the first place.  Ms. McShane explained the rationale for why a 35 percent ratio is an appropriate one, but there would be no comment on why NRG wishes to go to 35 percent.  Could you comment on that?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Over the years, we had not been able to issue a dividend to the shareholder as a result of the Imperial Life loan.  So the equity position had built from around 35 percent up to 70.  And we had continued to work on to 80, 90, or a hundred percent.

     Currently the economic environment allows companies to take advantage of low interest rates, and we are not in the position whereby we can go back to the market four, five, six, seven, eight, nine, ten times.

     We also felt that it would be good for the ratepayers for us to get our equity level down from 50 to 35 percent, I think, as the evidence has also shown on Interrogatory No. 35.  

     So, in our estimation, this was an issue that was best for everybody.  Prior to making that decision, though, we did run different scenarios to determine and evaluate the impact of reducing our rate from 50 percent to 35 percent.  And it was evaluated and deemed that that would be good for our ratepayers.

     MR. FAYE:  Can I ask you to file those studies as additional evidence in this hearing?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Those studies are no longer available.

     MR. FAYE:  Would it be possible to recreate those studies?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I think we've effectively recreated them in Interrogatory No. 35, where we've shown the reduction from 50 to 35 percent as a benefit to the ratepayer.

     MR. KAISER:  But why would the studies no longer be available?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Like a lot of spreadsheet things you run numbers and models and stuff like that, and then, you know, when they're done, they're done.

     MR. FAYE:  You're saying that the impact on the customer has been positive from this change, or will be positive.  What about the financial impact on the company?  How do you view that?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We still feel it leaves the company in a very strong position.  We went to a tier one bank to do this financing.  They made their own assessments.  They assessed that this was a good deal both for them.  We think it's a good deal for us, and that it doesn't -- financially it's good deal.

     MR. FAYE:  But do you feel that it would adversely affect your ability to borrow money in light of a large project that might come on like the ethanol one?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  With guaranteed contracts in place for the ethanol plant, I think that we would have a good opportunity of going to financial institutions to show them, to raise money for this funding, yes, in order to fund the capital expenditures.

     MR. FAYE:  So you would be satisfied that you wouldn't have to incur an interest rate premium on additional borrowings because of the fact that you've gone down to 35 percent equity?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I didn't say that.  I haven't vetted this one with anybody at the moment.

     MR. FAYE:  Have you looked at that potential impact yet?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We don't have that arrangement yet or contract for an ethanol plant.  The shovel hasn't been put in the ground yet:  There are a lot of things that need to go forward prior to us to take this to the next level. 

     MR. FAYE:  How long has the ethanol plant been on the radar, for lack of a better term?  

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I believe since January 2006.

     MR. FAYE:  And the refinancing was finalized with the Bank of Nova Scotia, I believe, in March; is that right?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  March 28th.

     MR. FAYE:  And are you saying that NRG did not consider the potential impact of the ethanol plant on its financing requirements when it did the financing with BNS?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We did not prevent the potential impact to the BNS.  Whether we've always seen it there, I just -- at the moment, we do don't have anything tangible to let us believe that there's going to be an ethanol plant.

     MR. KAISER:  Are you saying that you didn't disclose to the bank that there was a possibility that an ethanol plant of this magnitude might be created in your jurisdiction?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  They're well aware of it.

     MR. FAYE:  Are you satisfied, then, that the financial ratios of the company would not be adversely impacted by moving down to the 35 percent level?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  The financial ratios of the company will be satisfactory and fine for the purposes of the financing and for the splitting of the company.

     MR. FAYE:  Just one question.  If the company has already restructured itself to a 35 percent ratio and the Board decides to retain the current 50 percent ratio, what effect would that have on you?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I don't follow the question.

     MR. FAYE:  Would there be any adverse effect on the company if the Board decides to maintain the current ratio rather than give you the 35 percent ratio that you wish?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Are you saying that you will deem the rate to be 50 percent and ask us to match that?

     MR. FAYE:  No, I'm simply saying that your deemed rate right now is 50 percent, and if the Board elects to continue that deemed rate, what effect would this have on you?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  If I understand correctly, equity attracts a higher rate than debt, and as such, it would make life easier for us.

     MR. FAYE:  Are you saying you would welcome that sort of decision?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I'm saying that that's what I think would happen.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I'm going to move now to the dividend payment that's recorded in the evidence.  This was originally filed at $3 million was going to be distributed to the shareholder, and in the updated evidence that figure has dropped to just over 2 million.

     Can you explain why that change was made?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  It was done to reduce the paid-up capital -- I'm just going to confirm...

      I'm sorry.  It was done to reduce the paid-up capital of the class 'A' shares between 2,038,581 to a dollar. 

     MR. FAYE:  And the effect of that return of capital was to reduce the equity ratio.  And what equity ratio did it reduce it to, the actual equity ratio?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  The intent was to reduce it to 35 percent.

     MR. FAYE:  And the actual effect?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I'd have to take an undertaking to do that actual number.

     MR. FAYE:  So that undertaking would be to provide the evidence of the effect of paying a return of capital of 2,038,581 instead of $3 million.

     MR. VIRANEY:  And that would be Undertaking J1.5.

     UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE THE EVIDENCE OF THE

EFFECT OF PAYING A RETURN OF CAPITAL OF 2,038,581

INSTEAD OF $3 MILLION
     MR. KAISER:  Do I take it from that, then, Mr. Bristoll that you'll give us the exact numbers; the actual equity percent is not 35 percent today?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I don't know off the top of my head when I make an incorrect answer, so I'm not going to try to guess.  

     Is that better?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes. 

     MR. FAYE:  Now, as a result of you not paying the entire 3 million that was forecast, does that mean that NRG has an excess of cash on hand?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  It was retained as cash; that's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  Are there any further dividends or returns of capital contemplated? 

     MR. BRISTOLL:  The banking arrangement that we have allows us to pay dividends provided it doesn't violate our covenants.  So the question to that is that in the future we do intend, where allowable, to make dividends when possible.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, just let's be clear.  The covenants that you're speaking of, or loan that you're speaking of, we read into that the bank will let you pay up to $3 million out on dividends to have loan proceeds?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  If we want to, yes.  That's correct.  But we are allowed to make dividends in the future, provided it's within our covenants.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  And what are the restrictions on dividends in the future?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  To maintain certain ratios that are valid evidence.  If we can maintain those ratios, then we are allowed to issue a dividend without the authority -- without asking the bank for permission.  If we were about to violate those ratios, then we would have to go to the bank and request their permission.

     MR. KAISER:  Are you within those ratios now?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, we are.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. FAYE:  How would the company plan to raise additional debt for the ethanol plant should the ethanol plant become a reality?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We would approach our current lender.  We would approach alternative lenders.  We would put a business model in front of them.  We would put the contracts in hand that we have with the ethanol producer.  And we would do what most companies do, is present our case.

     MR. FAYE:  And given the deemed equity structure, would you agree that this would require an additional injection of equity to make up that part of the capital?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I guess when we get to the point where we know that we're going to have an ethanol facility, then we would have to approach financial institutions with that.  We will look at our capital structure at that point.  We'll run our models and we'll look at the scenarios.  And we will determine what our needs are.  It's very speculative right now for me to answer questions along that vein because I think, as we all know, there is no ethanol facility.

     MR. FAYE:  But a closer matching of the deemed and actual debt/equity ratio was one of the rationales in questioning the adjustment to 35 percent.  Am I right on that?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We are willing to accept the 35 percent equity, deemed debt to equity ratio.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I'd like to turn to the cost consequences of replacement of long-term debt.

      The first question has to do with a difference between the original filed evidence and the refiled evidence.  The original evidence predicted a debt rate of 6.8 percent.  And this was subsequently changed to 7.52.  Can you explain why the figure changed?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  The original 6.8 percent was our best guess.  At what a long-term rate would be.  When we actually went to firm up the rate, the markets have changed and moved.  And it had gone to 7.52 percent.

     MR. FAYE:  So if I understand you right, that the change, the increase, was not a result of any evaluation of increased business risk; it was simply the interest rate market, the prime rate had raised and the quoted rate was no longer appropriate.  Is that right?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  6.8 was an estimated rate that we had performed.  The 7.52 is a real rate.

     MR. FAYE:  But the 6.8 percent would have been given to you by the bankers, wouldn't it have been?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We asked for rates and they got, I guess, a rate of about 6.8 percent.  They don't run off to their capital markets when we ask for a rate and put the capital markets people through those efforts.  So the rate we got was from a bank manager, not from a capital markets person.

     MR. FAYE:  Your response to interrogatory 31 included a copy of the signed promissory note between NRG and the Bank of Nova Scotia.  How does this note affect the terms and conditions sheet that was filed with the evidence?  There doesn't appear to be a reference incorporating the term sheet in the final signed note.

     The reference for that is E2, tab 1, schedule 2.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  One moment, please.

     If you go to page 3 of the credit commitment letter, please.  You see a section called "Interest Rates, Fees, Commissions."  Under the non-revolving loan, which is the $6.5 million loan, you'll see a section called, in brackets,  "Fixed Rate Option."

     It states that:

"The Borrower has the option to fix the interest rate, for the balance of the term of the loan, subject to availability.  Rates will be quoted upon request."

That promissory note is the fruition of that clause.

     MR. FAYE:  Do I understand you to say, then, that terms and conditions sheet originally filed does apply to this loan and that you don't need to update the terms and conditions?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  They're all part and parcel of the same loan.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.

     The next section that we're going to read through here is Issue V.5 on the final issues list concerns the refinancing of financing costs, whether they are appropriate and whether they were prudently incurred.

     And in this section, I'd like to point out at the outset we have three separate issues and we're going to try to keep them isolated, because they need to be considered separately.

     And as I get to each one, I'll highlight that issue for the panel so that you understand which one we're talking about.

     A couple of housekeeping items first.  The original filed evidence showed the cost of placing the debt with Bank of Nova Scotia at $35,000, but the re-filed evidence now sets this cost at just over 47,000.  The reference for this is E1, T1.  That would be E1, tab 1, schedule 2, line 12.

     MS. SPOEL:  Is that B1?

     MR. FAYE:  E as in "every," yes.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  E1, schedule 1.  Sorry, go ahead.

     MR. FAYE:  E1, tab 1, schedule 2, line 12.

     There's a difference between the original filed evidence of 35,000 estimated for the refinancing costs and the ultimate cost of just over 47,000.  Can you elaborate on what changed and why the costs increased?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  The bulk of the change results revolves around legal fees.  Initially the quote for legal fees was quite low or quite a bit lower.  The original quote for legal fees for the bank’s legal counsel was $6,000.  It ended up being 20.  The reason it ended up being 20 is due to the complexity of lending to a regulated entity.

     MR. FAYE:  And why was the complexity not foreseeable?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  When the bank secures its loan, there are information requirements that need to be met.  I can only but assume this.  But it's not every day that a gas utility is financed by the bank, and so they needed to understand and get their way around the utility issues.

     MR. FAYE:  Were there any other components of that original estimate that increased substantially other than legal?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  The original commitment fee, if you go back to the commitment letter, was 25,000 dollars.  We were able to have that reduced to $20,000.  The balance of those costs were increases in legal fees.

     If you look at the breakdown, the breakdown is made up of three components; the commitment fee for $20,000, the bank legal fee for $20,000, and NRG legal fees for $7,000.

     The original financing was the same breakdown with lesser amounts for bank legal at 6.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  You're welcome.

     MR. FAYE:  Redeployment costs have been filed at totalling 213,000 and change.  Can you elaborate on what these costs are for?  

     The reference for this one is tab E -- sorry, E1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 2.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  There are four components to that cost.  Desjardins asset management fee for the Imperial Life loan of 192,470.59...

     [Query by reporter]  

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I think I should slow down. 

     $500 for a discharge fee.  There's also for the Banco debenture a loan breaking fee of $20,201.80, and a wire transfer fee so that we can transfer the monies to Desjardins for $80.  Those four items total $213,252.39. 

     MR. FAYE:  And how was the Imperial Life redeployment cost calculated?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  It was basically the spread between the July '09 long term rate and the rate on the loan, and then that amount was net present valued over the remaining period of the loan.

     MR. FAYE:  Was the effect of -- let me rephrase that.

     What was the maturity date on the Imperial Life loan?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  July '09.

     MR. FAYE:  So the effect was to pay the difference between the cover sheet interest rate on the loan and another figure.  Can you just elaborate again on what the other figure, comparing that, is?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I believe it's the long-term rates as at the maturity date of the loan.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay, so that that rate is predicted.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That rate -- there's a bond on the bond market that represents that rate.

     MR. KAISER:  So it's essentially their lost profit?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Exactly.

     MR. FAYE:  Now, you mentioned the Banco security loan.  That's referred to in Exhibit 1, tab 1, S. 2 as well.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Sorry, can you repeat that?

     MR. FAYE:  Banco security loan?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  It's noted in Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 2, as having no pre-payment penalty.  Can you clarify between what's called the "Banco loan" and the "Banco debenture"?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  They're two separate loans for us.

     MR. FAYE:  And is the $20,000 penalty related to the loan or to the debenture?  

     MR. BRISTOLL:  May I have one moment, please?

     It's with respect to the debenture.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  You're welcome.

     MR. KAISER:  Is Banco a related party?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  No.

     MR. FAYE:  Just to clarify the history of the Banco situation.  This loan originally was held by a related party, was it not, and then sold to Banco?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  My understanding is that the loan was originally held by a company called Junsen Corp., and that a transaction occurred between Junsen and Banco, and the loan was transferred between Junsen and Banco.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That's where I was going next, so that's convenient.

     And I'll preface my question here with noting that this is issue number 1 that we need to have addressed here.

     In rate case RP-2002-0147, at paragraph 84, the Board appears to have disallowed the recovery of the Junsen penalty.  And the Junsen penalty is the Banco penalty; am I correct on that?  

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  In that case, in that rate decision, the Board appears to have disallowed the recovery of that penalty, and I'm wondering, does NRG understand that paragraph differently than I do?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  It's the word appears that confuses everybody.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Faye, can you give us the exact reference in the decision?  Is this in your compendium?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, this would be in the compendium of decisions.

     MR. KAISER:  At what page?

     MR. FAYE:  Index 2, paragraph 84.  It's about a dozen or more pages in.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Would you repeat that, please?  Could 
you repeat that, please?

     MR. FAYE:  Paragraph 84 on tab 2 of that compendium.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Thank you.

     MR. FAYE:  I'll read it for the Board's -- or the Panel's convenience.  In the middle of that paragraph:

"However, the Board has not factored the pre-payment penalties related to the Junsen debenture into its determinations.  The Board does not believe that NRG would have agreed to the insertion of such a clause into the debenture agreement in 1998 if it had been negotiating with an arm’s-length party."

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Can you turn to the IR27, please?  I'll just read you our response:

          "It is NRG's position that pre-payment

penalty clauses in lending agreements (for the benefit of the lender) are not unusual; indeed, it is hard to imagine a lender agreeing to lend at a fixed rate without some provision for preserving the lending agreement that was struck.  It is worth noting that the Imperial Life Loan with NRG contained a pre-payment penalty clause, and NRG's new loan with Scotiabank contains a pre-payment penalty clause.  The issue of whether the lender is an affiliate or not..." 

in this case, a related party, I think we should -- I would like to strike affiliate related party. 

"...or not should not enter into the equation -- a pre-payment clause is standard.  To hold otherwise is to take the view that a borrower cannot accept a pre-payment penalty clause if the lender is an affiliate, but can accept such a clause if the lender is unaffiliated."

     MR. FAYE:  I'd like to suggest to you that the Board, in making the comments, meant them to be understood in the context of an impending refinancing.  In other words, acceptance of a penalty clause in those circumstances was imprudent, not acceptance of a penalty clause in any circumstances, but the fact that NRG was on the verge of refinancing the company and entered into an agreement for a penalty clause that they needn't have done.  Would you say that that could be another interpretation of the Board's comments?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  The financing didn't occur.

     MR. FAYE:  I'm sorry?  Could you repeat that?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  The financing did not occur, so it was not pending.

     MR. FAYE:  The renegotiation that caused the penalty clause to be inserted at the time, as I understand it, was to increase the borrowing capacity that NRG could draw on in the event they needed it.  Is that your understanding of that?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I was not there, but I have read the transcripts and that is correct. 

     MR. FAYE:  Did NRG ever act on that; did you ever draw more money on that loan?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I am not privy to that.

     MR. FAYE:  So your conclusion would be that you don't understand the Board to have disallowed that penalty?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  And that would be the reason why you've included it in this case to be recovered; is that right?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We believe that it is a prudent and common cost that occurs in lending arrangements.

     MR. KAISER:  Is the manner in which the penalty is calculated in the case of the Banco loans the same as is calculated in the Scotia loan or the Imperial loan?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  No.

     MR. KAISER:  What's different about it?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  The Bank of Nova Scotia loan is a three-month interest penalty for pre-payment.  These two loans, the two loans that we are referring to, the pre-payment penalty is based upon the spread between the Canada long-term bond at the date of maturity and the rate on refinancing.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, you have just said that the penalty is common in arm's-length transaction, and pointed to the Scotia loan as an example.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Right.

     MR. KAISER:  So my question is, is the penalty in the Banco loan formerly the Junsen loan, more onerous or not?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  You see both types of penalties in loans.

     MR. KAISER:  I understand that.  The Imperial had the differential, the lost profit.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. KAISER:  We're now talking about the Banco loan.  Is it more onerous than the Scotia penalty or not?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  No.  The Scotia penalty with three months' interest on the Scotia penalty today?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Would be well in excess of $20,000.

     MR. FAYE:  That would be well in excess of $20,000 on the total amount of the BNS loan.  Do I understand that right?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.  These are different loans at different times.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, and the Junsen loan would be considerably less than the BNS loan?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That is correct.

     MR. FAYE:  So would the $20,000 in penalty be comparable to three months' interest on the Junsen loan?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  One second.  I believe they would be comparable.

     MR. FAYE:  And what's the value of this loan that we're talking about, loan debenture -- I keep getting those figures confused here and I shouldn't, but what's the face value of that loan, debenture?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  You know, I will correct myself.  It was 146.

     MR. FAYE:  146,000?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  The penalty is $20,000 on $146,000 loan -- is that what you're saying?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  And that is equivalent to three months' interest payment on $146,000 loan?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  No, I just said I will correct myself.

     MR. FAYE:  Oh.  Thank you.

     Sorry, Mr. Chair.  I'm waiting for a recalculation.  Do I understand Mr. Bristoll to be going to provide that on an undertaking or are we to wait for him here?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I wasn't aware we were looking for a recalculation, I'm sorry.

     MR. FAYE:  Oh.  Could we have an undertaking, then, to recalculate what the $20,282 penalty would amount to in terms of number of months of interest?

     MR. KAISER:  Or, put differently, are you simply asking him, if the penalty on the Banco loan/Junsen loan was three month' interest, would it would be?

     MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  That's a better way of putting it.

     MR. KAISER:  You can probably tell us that right now.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  It's probably around $3,500.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes.  I'm not sure how that's really germane to this whole thing, though.  The fact is that these were different loans at different points in time and that there were different financing needs and there were different abilities to borrow money, and that this goes back quite a distance.

     MR. KAISER:  That's true.  But the other difference is, one is a non-arm’s-length transaction.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Can I take an undertaking to --

     MR. KAISER:  Certainly.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  -- to just get this right?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Because maybe I've been talking a little incorrectly here.

     MR. KAISER:  We'll be back Monday.  There's no rush.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Thank you very much.

     MR. FAYE:  So could you just dictate what the undertaking will be?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  To recalculate what the interest penalty would have been.  I guess you want me to do it two ways; right?  You want me to do it one way?  You want me to do three months' interest.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, I think -- let's back up.

      There are three loans.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. KAISER:  There's the Imperial loan.  There's the Junsen/Banco loan, or debenture, I should say.  

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Mm-hm.

     MR. KAISER:  One, of course, didn't have a penalty; one did.  One debenture and one loan.  

     And that, of course, leaves the Bank of Nova Scotia loan.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. KAISER:  All have penalties, or all three have had penalties.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. KAISER:  Which you've described.  What Mr. Faye is trying to do and what the Board is trying to determine is, with respect to the penalty on this Banco debenture, whether it's more onerous than the penalty in either the Imperial one or the Scotia one, or both of them.  And the Scotia one, it's in terms of three months of interest, so it leaves you to calculate what three months of interest would be under the Bank of Nova Scotia venture; right?  

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I can do that.

     MR. KAISER:  And then, if you want, in fairness to you, because you were arguing that it's a different point in time than the Bank of Nova Scotia loan, which is certainly true, you might want to compare it to the penalty under the Imperial loan, which was an arm's-length transaction, as I understand; is that correct?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Definitely.

     MR. KAISER:  And that transaction, I take it, was closer in time to the Banco loan?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Much so.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  So that would be another comparison you might want to --

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I think we've done that comparison already, because that's how the original amount was calculated, the $20,000.

     MR. KAISER:  No, I know what the amount is.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Right.

     MR. KAISER:  But I guess what I would be asking you in Imperial, and I don't mean to frame your response here, is that amount, the difference in lost profit, as you described it, how would that compare to three months' interest on the Imperial loan?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Oh, okay.  Fair enough.  I'll give you that.  

     MR. FAYE:  The undertaking number for that will be J1.6.

     UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO PRODUCE DIFFERENCES IN

CALCULATIONS OF LOST PROFIT COMPARED TO COST OF
INTEREST CHARGES
     MR. FAYE:  We'll move now to the second of the three issues that I pointed out at the beginning.  And this one concerns the response to an interrogatory number 29.  And that can be found at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 1.

     Question 29 had to do with a 1 percent premium on interest rates that the Board approved in the 2004 rates.  NRG was asked to calculate the amount of money recovered on the rates in 2004 as a result of that 1 percent premium.  The company's response was that the amount was $31,698.  Could you take us through how that number was calculated?

     MR. AIKEN:  I can take I you through it at a general level.  If you want specifics, I would have to take that as an undertaking.

     But basically, it was taking the revenue requirement at 9 percent versus the revenue requirement at 8 percent, and the $31,698 figure was the difference in the revenue requirement based on the two different interest rates.

     MR. FAYE:  And would I be correct in assuming that if I just divide that number, that $31,698, by .01, I'd come up with the debt that that number was based on?

     MR. AIKEN:  Not necessarily, because you have the whole income tax effect on the revenue requirement of the interest deductibility as well.

     MR. FAYE:  Well, referring to Exhibit 3, tab 1, schedule 2, was the Board approved debt in 2004 about 4.8 million?

     MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  And so guide me through this a little bit, just in principle.

     Would I multiply that by .01 to get the amount of interest that would be charged to rates in that year, on a deemed basis?

     MR. AIKEN:  Over and above the 8 percent?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.

     MR. AIKEN:  That would be correct, yes.

     MR. FAYE:  My difficulty, Mr. Aiken, is that I'm coming out with $48,000, and the number in your evidence is 31,000.  I just wonder, where is -- what have I done wrong here?

     MR. AIKEN:  The $48,000 is a before-tax number, with a tax rate of approximately 33 percent or 35 percent.  One-third.

      That is the difference between the 48 and the 32, about $16,000.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.  That's very good.  So we'll proceed with the understanding that the amount that was recovered was 31,698 that number was recovered in rates in 2004.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I'm not sure that's our interpretation.

     MR. FAYE:  You didn't recover $31,698 or you didn't recover it in rates or you didn't recover it in 2004?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Well, when you read this paragraph, it's not 100 percent clear that the 1 percent difference represents recovery of the costs that you're referring to.

     MR. FAYE:  Could you read out the section that you're referring to?

     MR. BRISTOLL:

"In light of the utility's evidence that a potential lender would be looking to re-finance its entire debt, including short-term debt, the Board believes it is appropriate to deem an overall debt rate for the 2004 test year.  Based on the above, the Board deems a rate of 9.00 percent on all debt for the 2004 test year."

It indicates nowhere in that phrase as to which portion of the debt is for debt redeployment cost or penalties or what are. 

     MR. FAYE:  If we go to the first sentence in that interrogatory question, where the figure 8 percent is quoted, and reading the rest of that paragraph in context, we do not agree that the difference between 9 and 8 was what the Board intended to be devoted to a financing cost.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We just don't think it's purely clear.  We think that one can allude to that, but I think that it states it clearly that that 1 percent was designed for the repayment of recovery of penalties. 

     MR. FAYE:  Are you saying that something less than 9 and greater than 8 was intended by the Board as the interest rate to be recovered and that the difference between that and 9 was for refinancing?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I'm saying it's not clear.

     MR. FAYE:  And so you haven't recorded any of this as paying down the prospective refinancing costs.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That is correct.

     MR. FAYE:  If we go back to the interrogatory and read the paragraph noted (a):  

"Please calculate the dollar value of this 1 percent differential between 8 percent and 9 percent that was recovered through the Board-approved 2004 customer rates."  

Your response was that that was $31,698.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We responded to the question that was asked.

     MR. FAYE:  But you're disputing that the phrase "that was recovered through the Board-approved 2004 customer rates"?

     MR. AIKEN:  The question asks to calculate the dollar value of this 1 percent differential.  The response is more general.  It says the dollar value of a 1 percent differential.

     MR. FAYE:  I'm sorry.  I didn't catch that nuance in the "A" or "the."

     MR. AIKEN:  No, it's "A" or "this."

     MR. FAYE:  A or this.

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  All right.  Well, I think we can summarize this issue as the Board appears to have allowed a 1 percent premium on interest rates in 2004, and it appears that the Board intended that to be devoted for refinancing costs.  That's one interpretation.  NRG's interpretation of what that 1 percent was for seems to be different.  And that money has been devoted to other NRG interests.  Would that be a correct summary of the situation?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We believe that the 9 percent represents a deemed rate for that year, and in fact, that the actual rate was a lot higher. 

     MR. FAYE:  And if you believe that the deemed rate was 9 percent, do you have an explanation for why the Board would have mentioned 8 percent?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  If you go through the transcripts, that was a value that was effectively plucked out of the air during discussions with Mr. Blake.

     MR. FAYE:  All right.  Thank you.  I think we've summarized that issue sufficiently.  We can move to the next one.  And this would be issue 3 of the three that I'd mentioned.

     This one concerns the amortization period that NRG has proposed for the refinancing.  And that period is set out to be 53 months.  I wonder if you could elaborate on why you chose 53 months rather than 60 months, the term of the loan.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I think that goes back to the deferral account and the request for deferral accounts so that we can capture all the breakage fees.

     MR. FAYE:  Would you agree that the effect of choosing 53 months is to exclude end recovery of that, being costs of the refinancing costs, being costed into the 2006 rate year?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Can you repeat that, please?

     MR. FAYE:  Maybe I'll simplify that.  By using 53 months, do all of the refinancing costs get recovered in the 2007 test year and subsequent years?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  None of that cost recovery is accomplished in the 2006 rate year?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That is correct.

     MR. FAYE:  Have you done any calculations to compute what the effect of that is on the 2006 rate year?  If you had used 60 months and started the refinancing charging to 2006 in, say, May of this year, what would be the cost that would be amortized up to the end of September.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Talking about 7-60ths of the $213,000?

     MR. FAYE:  Well, if that was amortized over 60 months, instead of 53, and then seven months of that was charged to 2006, yes, that's what I'm getting at.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  If somebody could lend me a calculator.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, you can give us the number.  We understand the question.  If you could give us the number on Monday, is that sufficient?

     MR. FAYE:  That's fine.  Can you explain why you wouldn't charge any of these refinancing costs to 2006, given the fact that the lower interest rate on the Bank of Nova Scotia loan gives the company benefit in 2006?

     MR. AIKEN:  My understanding is that the Board's decision in the 2005 rate case, where they deemed an interest rate of 8 percent, which excluded any redeployment costs, was that the -- and I don't have it in front of me but I believe the Board decision basically said that if and when NRG incurs any redeployment or breakage costs, they are to bring that amount forward to the Board for recovery or possible recovery in rates.  So that was what NRG has done.  They've brought forward the total cost for potential recovery in rates.

     MR. KAISER:  And presumably not locking for any retroactive rate increase?

     MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.  No retroactivity.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, I understand what you're saying, and I'd like just to point out the effect of the refinancing and who got the benefit of that refinancing.  Certainly it's been clear that NRG's evidence shows the customer derives some benefit.  But it would also seem that the shareholder derives considerable benefit too.  Prior to the refinancing, my tabulation here says that you had a loan with Banco in the amount of $950,000, at 9 and a half percent.  You had a debenture with Banco at 150,000, at 11.58.  And there was a loan with Imperial of $1,450,000, at 11.43.

     And the effect of refinancing with BNS at 7.52 percent, the effect of doing that in April allowed, essentially, a savings of about $40,000 over what you would have had to pay in actual interest on those actual loans.

     That's one way of looking at the benefit to the company.  Would you agree with that, subject to confirmation of my arithmetic?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I guess we could have refinanced on September, October the 1st, if we had chosen to.

     MR. FAYE:  So that there is a clear advantage to have done it before, and a clear advantage to the company, not just the customer; is that right?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I take it the question is that if we had -- because we refinanced when we did refinance, that a benefit has been incurred upon the company?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  In the form of a lower interest rate?  In terms of percentage or in terms of dollars?

     MR. FAYE:  No, I'm talking more of avoided interest costs.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  The new loan is at $6.5 million.  It attracts interest at 7.52 percent.  The old bundle of loans is much lower.

     MR. KAISER:  Your interest costs have gone up.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, I think I see where you're going with that.  But a portion of the refinancing was to replace the debt with equity, and vice versa.  So I wonder if --

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Faye, is your point the fact that half of the proceeds of this loan were used to create this special dividend that the shareholder gained some benefit and therefore should be responsible for part of the break-up fee or penalty?

     MR. FAYE:  I think essentially that's it, Mr. Chair, that the --

     MR. KAISER:  Why don't you just ask him whether he agrees with that.

     MR. FAYE:  Do you agree with that characterization of the situation?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We're a utility that has not issued a dividend since, it's my understanding, 1994 or previously.  If mechanisms had been in place that would have allowed a dividend to be issued over that period of time, to maintain the debt to equity ratio at 50/50, the issue of a $2 million dividend wouldn't be considered onerous and it would not be considered excessive.

     I think that the size of the dividend is causing a lot of confusion here, and the fact that it's the first dividend we've done since 1994, to the best of my knowledge.

     We could have issued dividends if our financing arrangements had allowed it, but they didn't, so we didn't issue a dividend, so effectively one could perceive this as a catch-up.

      It's not a special dividend intended to benefit anybody any more than they would have benefited over the years if the financing mechanisms had allowed for it. 

     MR. FAYE:  Well, I think the summary of this issue is that NRG feels that all of the cost of refinancing should be charged to the rates from 2007 onwards for 53 months and that none of that should be charged against the 2006 cost year.  Is that right?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  NRG's interest rate has been deemed at 8 percent and at 9.2 percent.  The actual rate of interest that was paid was in excess of that even if you just consider the third-party loans.

     We believe and feel that the reason the rates were deemed, I think it's clear, is that we were being encouraged to go refinance.  And one of the consequences of refinancing and reducing our debt to equity ratio from 50 to 35 percent is that we incur these breakage fees.

     However, as a result of our refinancing, the shareholder -- not the shareholder, but the ratepayers are in a better position today than they were prior to it.

     MR. FAYE:  But my characterization, my summary, was that to the effect that amortization costs don't track the actual financing costs; you start the amortization costs in 2007, and the seven months in 2006 don't pay any of those costs.  Is that a correct characterization?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  For the reasons that Mr. Aiken has previously described.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think we'll move on to short-term debt.  This is on the main issues list number 5.7.  And the issue was framed as:  Is the short-term debt ratio for 2007 appropriate?  And my question here is, how is the debt rate of 6 percent shown in the pre-filed evidence calculated?

     Our reference for this is Exhibit 6, tab 1, schedule 1.

     MR. AIKEN:  As part of the Bank of Nova Scotia loan, they have access to an operating loan at the prime rate.  Six percent is the current prime rate, and not knowing whether interest rates are going up or down over the next 18 months, I stuck with the existing prime rate as the forecast for the forecast period.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay, thanks, Mr. Aiken.

     I have just a couple of final financial-type questions that are more or less clarifications.  In the original filed evidence, the financing costs were submitted as $25,917.  And they were subsequently updated to $264,000.  This is on Exhibit A3, tab 2, schedule 3, page 1.  The white page showed the 25,000.  The blue page shows the 264.  Could you just put on the record the explanation for that change?

     MR. AIKEN:  Could you give me the reference again?  A3, tab 2.

     MR. FAYE:  Schedule 3, page 1.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Tab 2, schedule 1; is that correct?

     MR. FAYE:  Schedule 3.

     MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  You're looking at the numbers 25,917 versus 264,060?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes.

     MR. AIKEN:  I believe in the original evidence we did not include the financing costs -- or, sorry, the redeployment costs as another asset.  I believe they were classified further up on the white page under "deferred charges," as at that point in time we had assumed there would be a deferral account in place. 

     The blue page reflects the lack of a deferral account, so just basically at that the numbers have moved from one area of the balance sheet to another.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And would the same explanation apply for the 2007 sheets, the comparable ones?

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

     MR. FAYE:  One last question.  That is, that financing cost is noted as "net," and I'm curious just to know what is it net of?

     MR. AIKEN:  Net of the amortization of those costs.

     MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you, those are all my questions, Mr. Chair.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.  

Mr. Stoll.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. STOLL:

     MR. STOLL:  I just have a couple questions, and it goes back to some of the, I guess, opening questions regarding my client and its potential impact.

     Now, am I to understand that when you chose to refinance, and I guess there was a comment where I thought you said the Board was encouraging NRG to refinance, but also you implied that they were encouraging you to refinance at 35/65 ratio -- did I mishear that?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.  You misheard it.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  No, that's fine.  So the Board was just telling you to refinance, they weren't telling you to alter the capital structure?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I'm not sure the Board ever actually came out and said you better refinance.  I think if you look at the interest rates and the deemed rates, I think a clear message was sent that we better refinance.  As with respect to the equity levels, no, they did not indicate anything.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So the choice of the equity level was purely within the corporation.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  As mentioned earlier, we felt that that equity level was the best possible equity level for our ratepayers.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And the equity level is at the low end of what Ms. McShane had said would be acceptable for a utility?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

     MR. STOLL:  So if you're required to make a significant change to rate base to maintain an acceptable debt/equity ratio, you will have to go out and secure equity?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  It depends on the nature of the rate base change.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, let's say you have to raise $5 million to build this new pipe.  Does that mean 35 percent of that has to come from equity?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  If we had to build it today, I think the answer would be yes, but there's nothing that requires us to issue dividends and not allow our equity to continue to grow.

     MR. STOLL:  So you're suggesting that your equity will increase?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Equity increases every day you make a profit.

     MR. STOLL:  And, given the understanding that the ethanol plant, if it happened, would be fairly near-term -- i.e., the construction would take place in the 2007 test year -- what type of equity change could we expect to see that wouldn't have to be sought from outside sources?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  We currently don't have a contract for an equity plant.

     MR. AIKEN:  Ethanol.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Ethanol, sorry.  I like to call it an equity plant.

     MR. STOLL:  I think we would all like an equity plant.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  I'll work on that for the next rates case.

      So I think that this is all very hypothetical.  I don't know what the aid to construction will be.  There are lots of issues here, I mean, and there are lots of variables that need to be dealt with.

     MR. STOLL:  The aid to construction, though, is a function of your rates; correct? 

     MR. AIKEN:  Correct.

     MR. STOLL:  So to tell a customer what the potential aid to construct is, you need to have some idea of what rate you either will charge or you will apply to charge, and you would have presumably made that available as part of the negotiations of the agreement. 

     MR. AIKEN:  Generally an aid to construct is based on existing rates in place, not what the rate may be.  It's a sort of a chicken-and-egg scenario, because until you know how much the aid to construct is, you don't know the impact on rate base and cost-of-service, which you need to know before you can design a rate for a customer.

     So it's essentially an iterative process.  You start with the existing rate that the customer would qualify for, and I would see a number of iterations between the aid to construct calculation and the determination of a new rate if one was needed for a new customer. 

     MR. STOLL:  When you were talking to the Bank of Nova Scotia and you said they were aware of the potential, did you inquire as to their flexibility should that potential new client arise?  I guess...

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Our capital loan requirement allows us to have a revolving line for capital expenditures.

     MR. STOLL:  Right.  But your capital expenditures are capped at 1.3 million a year without going back to the bank?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  If we use it.

     MR. STOLL:  I thought that was part of the 6.5 that capped your capital expenditures, was it not?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Not at all.  It was additional.

     MR. STOLL:  So, under the current year there's no cap on your total capital expenditures during any one year under your current --

     MR. BRISTOLL:  If we choose to sell funds, that's up to us.  As long as we stay within our ratios, we can manage our businesses ...

     MR. STOLL:  Right.  And given the ratios, there's been no impairment in your ability to acquire additional financing if you need to fund a large expansion?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  As it stands right now, we're well within our covenants.

     MR. STOLL:  And I'm not sure that answered my question.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  What it means is that if we're within our covenants there is flexibility.  We have not approached the bank on it, but it does mean that there is flexibility.

     MR. STOLL:  So you had no discussions, then?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  With the Bank of Nova Scotia, you're aware that the ethanol plant has a potential to be built within the Alta franchise area?

     MR. STOLL:  Right.  And what Mr. Aiken said, we have to go through the iterative process where you assess costs associated with the project to determine if your rates are appropriate.  How do we gather those costs if we don't know where the money for such a project is coming from?  Do we just use the existing rates or do we -- like, the existing cost of debt?

     MR. AIKEN:  The aid to construction calculation uses the most recent Board-approved capital structure and costs of equity and debt in the calculation.

     MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So if we do the calculation today, we may end up with one number.  If we do the calculation after the Board issues their order, and presumably you get what you want, you'll wind up with a different calculation. 

     MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.  I think there would be a small difference.  The overall cost of capital is not changing that much, but there is a decline, so, yes.

     MR. STOLL:  But you're also -- under the existing Rate 3, you're seeing a fairly significant change in the rates.  So, presumably, the increase in the rates would have a positive effect for the company.

     MR. AIKEN:  Which company are you referring to?

     MR. STOLL:  For NRG.  If your rates are going -- if your unit rates for Rate 3 are going up, as you've asked for, and if the Board granted that, that would be a good thing for NRG, for the applicant?

     MR. AIKEN:  Well, it would allow them to recover their revenue requirement.  That's always a good thing.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  If I may, I'm a bit confused by the line of questioning because the ethanol plant, I think, will go into production -- or will not go into production until 2008.  And hence the issue becomes germane in 2008.

     MR. STOLL:  But my understanding is you won't be revisiting the Board until potentially applying in December 2007, which means the current rates that we're setting here will apply to the ethanol plant. 

     MR. AIKEN:  No, I believe NRG's intention is to file in December of 2006 for fiscal 2008 rates which would come into effect October 1 of 2007, which is approximately the time, my understanding is, that the ethanol plant would become a customer.

     MR. STOLL:  Those are all my questions, Mr. Chair.  There's just one thing I would like to check, and maybe revisit when we come back, as far as I thought there was some mix-up in the date as far as '06, when I write that undertaking.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll come back to that on Monday.  Mr. Faye, is this a convenient time to break for the day?

     MR. FAYE:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I think it is a good time to break.

     MR. KAISER:  These gentlemen would like to go back to London?

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Why don't we just look at that undertaking -- the interrogatory now.  It would take about two seconds.  Is that okay?

     MR. KAISER:  No.  Fine.  It's up to you.

     MR. BRISTOLL:  Can we have a minute or two?  I'm sure it won't take long.

     Please refer yourselves to question number 18.  Yes, Mr. Stoll is right.  It says 2007.  We don't mean that.  We mean '06.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

9:30 Monday morning.  Thank you.

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:47 p.m. 
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